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Objective

! e objective of Mithras Investment Trust plc (the “Company” or “Mithras”) is to achieve over 

the longer term a total return in excess of the FTSE All-Share Index with dividends reinvested.

Strategy

Following a strategic review and a resolution passed at a General Meeting on Friday, 30 January 

2009, the Company’s strategic objectives are;

• to make no new commitments to limited partnerships or other vehicles and make no new 

direct investments;

• to seek to maximise returns from existing investments and return surplus cash to shareholders 

consistent with cash balances and banking covenants, whether by way of dividends, share 

buy backs, reduction of capital or otherwise;

• to seek value enhancing proposals from third parties where they off er attractive value to 

shareholders; and

• to run the Company with a low total expense ratio.

Investment Policy

! e Company’s investment policy is to invest, via its commitment to the Mithras Capital Fund, 

predominantly in European limited partnership buyout funds and in United States focused 

limited partnership buyout funds. 

! e Company will make no new investments.

No individual underlying portfolio company within any fund which the Company is committed 

to will represent more than 15% of the Company’s gross assets.

! e Company may use gearing to meet its investment objective. ! e Company will ensure that the 

ratio of total consolidated assets after deducting current liabilities to total net debt is at least 3:1.

MITHRAS PROFILE
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MITHRAS PROFILE
CONTINUED

Dividends and Return of Capital

When reasonably practicable, the Company will return surplus cash to shareholders consistent 

with cash balances and banking covenants, whether by way of dividend, share buy backs, 

reduction of capital or otherwise. No more than 15% of investment income generated from 

private equity investments will be retained.

Capital Gains

As Mithras is an investment trust, capital appreciation within the Company is free of tax.

Registered in England and Wales

No. 2478424
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PERFORMANCE SUMMARY

TOTAL RETURN ON EQUITY*

  FTSE
 Mithras All-Share Index
  

Year ended 31 December 2009 10.7% 30.1%

From fl otation on 21 February 1994 to 31 December 2009 268.1% 178.3%

* Group total return after tax before dividends, attributable to owners on opening owners’ funds. ! e Group 
consists of the Company and its subsidiaries as described on page 15.

GROUP RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

 Year ended  Year ended  % change compared
 31 December 2009  31 December 2008  to previous year
   

Revenue return before tax  £0.4 million £1.9 million (78.2)%

Total expense ratio  2.1% 3.6%# (41.7)%

Net dividends per Ordinary share

 Proposed fi nal* 2.0 pence  2.0 pence –

 Proposed special* – 3.0 pence (100.0)%

Net asset value (“NAV”) per Ordinary share  137.2 pence  128.4 pence 6.9%

Mid market quoted share price

 31 December 69.0 pence 69.0 pence –

 29 March 2010+ 84.5 pence

#Excluding the costs of a strategic review, the total expense ratio in 2008 would have been 3.1%.

* Proposed dividends, if approved by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting (“AGM”), are paid in the 
calendar year following proposal. Further information can be found in note 11 to the Financial Statements 
on page 56 and in the Financial Calendar on page 81.

+Being the last practical date prior to approval of the Annual Financial Report.
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Results and Dividend

During the year ended 31 December 2009, the 

Company’s NAV increased from 128.4 pence per 

share to 137.2 pence per share, an increase of 6.9%. 

Dividends totalling 5.0 pence per share were paid 

to shareholders. ! e share price (despite movement 

during the year), remained unchanged at 69.0 pence 

over the same period. ! e total return on equity 

was 10.7% (2008: 0.2%) compared to the Group’s 

benchmark, the FTSE All-Share Index, which returned 

30.1% (2008: decreased by 29.9%). ! e return since 

the Company’s fl otation in 1994 is 268.1% against the 

benchmark return of 178.3%.

! e consolidated revenue return to owners for the 

year decreased 88.2% to £0.2 million in 2009 (2008: 

£1.8 million), primarily as a result of a lack of 

realisations and investments in depressed market 

conditions. Given the level of cash and revenue 

reserves, your Board is recommending to shareholders 

that a dividend totalling 2.0 pence per share (2008: 

5.0 pence per share) be paid as a fi nal dividend. ! e 

proposed fi nal dividend, if approved by shareholders, 

will be paid on 27 May 2010 to shareholders on the 

Register at the close of business on 9 April 2010.

Strategy

In accordance with the resolution passed by shareholders 

at the General Meeting on Friday, 30 January 2009, the 

Company is making no new commitments to private 

equity funds and thus all investment activity relates to 

existing commitments, predominantly to the Mithras 

Capital Fund LP (“MCF”). ! e spread of investments 

off ers shareholders an exposure to funds with strong 

track records in a range of markets with exposure to the 

United States and Continental Europe. ! e Company 

will look to return surplus cash to shareholders 

when reasonably practicable. Should the dividend of 

2.0 pence per share be approved by shareholders at 

the forthcoming AGM, then the Company will have 

returned a total of 7.0 pence per share to shareholders 

since the change in investment strategy. Post year 

end, the sale of LGC from LGV3 and reduction in 

commitment to PAI Europe V, referred to in more 

detail in the Investment Manager’s Review, has put the 

Company in an even stronger position and the sale of 

LGC should allow a further dividend to be paid in the 

coming year.

! e Company’s existing cash position of £13.0 million 

at the Balance Sheet date, together with the availability 

of an undrawn Medium Term Credit Facility of up to 

£35.0 million, mean that the Company has adequate 

liquidity to fi nance undrawn commitments which total 

£30.6 million at 31 December 2009. ! e Company’s 

cash position has been further strengthened post year 

end following the sale of LGC.

We will continue to encourage value enhancing 

proposals where we believe that these will off er an 

opportunity for shareholders to crystallise value as 

economic conditions and fi nancial markets improve.

Investment Manager

Mithras Capital Partners LLP (“MCP” or the 

“Investment Manager”) assumed responsibility on 

1 April 2009 for the management of the Company, 

eff ectively making the Company self-managed. Mr Adrian 

Johnson, Chairman, and Mr Bernie Boylan, Managing 

Partner, ensure continuity in the management of the 

Company having both been actively involved with the 

Company for a number of years. Following the change 

of Investment Manager, the total expense ratio for the 

Group has decreased by 32.3% to 2.1% (2008: 3.1% 

excluding costs of exploring options to realise value).

Portfolio

! e Company currently has a £60.0 million 

commitment to MCF, the private equity fund-of-funds 

vehicle managed by MCP. During the year, MCF has 

drawn down £0.9 million from the Company to meet 

underlying fund investment requirements and received 

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
CONTINUED

back £1.1 million, by way of a recallable distribution, 

during the year, bringing the total commitment drawn 

down to £30.8 million. MCF generated value for the 

Company’s shareholders of £3.0 million during the year 

from the realisation and revaluation of unquoted funds. 

! e Company continues to be exposed to US Dollar 

and Euro exchange rate movements on its existing 

investments in MCF whilst the underlying outstanding 

commitments within MCF are predominately exposed 

to Euro exchange rate movements.

! e LGV Capital Limited (“LGV”) managed portfolio 

now comprises three portfolio company investments; 

Jeyes (via LGV 2) and Total Fitness and LGC (via 

LGV 3). ! e LGV partnerships generated value for 

the Company’s shareholders of £1.0 million during the 

year from the revaluation of unquoted investments. 

Outstanding commitments to LGV partnerships now 

total £1.4 million as at 31 December 2009. Subsequent 

to the year end, the investment in LGC was realised and 

generated proceeds of £4.7 million for the Company, 

representing a return of 3.6x on the cost of the original 

investment. Including the sale proceeds of LGC the 

Company’s pro forma NAV would be 142.2 pence 

per share.

! e underlying fund commitments in MCF are valued 

based upon the latest NAV of those funds ascertained 

from the most recent periodic valuation. Given the nature 

and timeliness of the reporting cycle for all underlying 

fund commitments, the valuation information provided 

by each underlying fund is typically more than 90 

days old at the time each quarterly NAV is reported. 

As part of the fair valuation process performed by the 

Investment Manager, your Board has sought a better 

indication of the fair value at 31 December 2009 from 

all underlying managers and this has been refl ected as a 

Directors’ valuation adjustment in the year end NAV.

! e Company has also made two £5.0 million 

investments in Sterling money market funds by way of 

cash management. ! ese funds are highly liquid and 

provide eligible interest income for the purposes of 

maintaining the Company’s investment trust status.

Notice to Remove the General Partner of MCF

At the AGM in May 2009, your Chairman presented 

to shareholders the position of the Board in respect of 

a notifi cation proposal received from Legal & General 

Assurance Society Limited (“LGAS”) in February 2009 

– the full details of which are available on the Company’s 

website (www.mithrasinvestmenttrust.com). Since the 

AGM, the Board has engaged with LGAS to resolve 

this issue. On 2 March 2010, LGAS served a formal 

notice seeking to remove Mithras Capital Partners GP 

Limited as the General Partner of Mithras Capital Fund 

LP (the “Fund”).

Under the limited partnership agreement that relates 

to the Fund, LGAS’s formal notice has commenced a 

procedure (the “Removal Procedure”) under which LGAS 

and the Company should seek to agree the appointment 

of a new general partner within 60 days, failing which, 

such appointment is referred to an independent expert. 

However, LGAS has stated that it would prefer an alternate 

timetable under which the General Partner will cease to 

be general partner of the Fund on 30 April 2012.

Asset allocation as a percentage of total assets

£47.0m at Dec 08 £50.4m at Dec 09

%
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Unquoted equity (LGV)
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
CONTINUED

While considering this a disappointing development in 

view of:

• the agreed strategy for the Company;

• the low total expense ratio of the Company;

• the performance of the Fund; and

• the maturity profi le of its investments,

the Board will pursue a resolution of this matter in a 

way which it believes will protect shareholder value, 

whilst at the same time pursuing the strategy approved 

by shareholders in January 2009.

Outlook

! e private equity industry continued to experience 

a signifi cant reduction in investment activity during 

2009, with that decline in volumes also refl ected in our 

managed portfolio during the year under review. ! ere 

are however early signs in 2010 that this is beginning 

to change. Importantly, the Company remains in a 

sound fi nancial position and has not suff ered from the 

issues of over-commitment to private equity limited 

partnerships while the balance and diversity of the 

portfolio should provide opportunities in an improving 

market. In addition, the level of cash resources means 

that the Company is in a strong position to meet its 

obligations and pursue the stated strategy of realising 

cash over the medium term.

! e Board is committed to pursuing its stated strategy of 

crystallising value for shareholders as fi nancial markets 

continue to recover. ! e Board will adopt a fl exible 

approach to realising value and will aim to ensure that 

this delivers maximum value for shareholders in the 

most effi  cient way.

Mike Wooderson

Chairman

30 March 2010
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INVESTMENT MANAGER’S REVIEW

2009 has been a diffi  cult year for the private equity 

industry and the fi nancial crisis has impacted listed 

private equity vehicles, causing underperformance 

against the wider FTSE indices. ! e most signifi cant 

areas of concern for investors were centred on underlying 

valuations and over-commitment strategy leading to 

negative sentiment towards the private equity industry.

Having achieved signifi cant realisations during the 

period leading up to the fi nancial crisis thus benefi tting 

liquidity and with a strategy in place to make no new 

commitments, the Company has been well positioned 

to deal with these concerns. ! e underlying portfolio, 

in line with the private equity sector as a whole, which 

has seen limited investment activity during the year, 

has generated positive returns. Underlying valuations 

have held up well in local currency terms and the cash 

position remains strong. ! e Company has not had to 

deal with the issue of over-commitment faced by some 

of its peers and has suffi  cient resources to meet all its 

outstanding commitments.

Results for the Year

! e Group’s total return for the year was 10.7% (2008: 

0.2%) in comparison to the Group’s benchmark, the 

FTSE All-Share Index’s return of 30.1% (2008: decrease 

of 29.9%). ! e Group’s NAV has increased from 128.4 

pence per share to 137.2 pence per share during the year. 

However, as reported in the Group’s Interim Results, the 

Group’s NAV had fallen to 113.2 pence per share having 

been primarily impacted by currency movements. ! e 

second half of 2009 has seen underlying fund valuations 

increase in local currency terms, resulting in a strong 

positive uplift in NAV.

! e Board has recommended a dividend per share 

totalling 2.0 pence per share (2008: 5.0 pence per 

share) due to the level of cash and revenue reserves held 

within the Group.

Investment Activity

! e Company now focuses its investment activity 

primarily on meeting its commitment to MCF. It has 

been well documented that investment activity within 

private equity funds has been slow with the tough 

economic environment and a continued lack of available 

fi nance cited as the main reasons. ! is has meant that 

MCF drew down only £0.9 million from the Company 

to meet drawdowns due and expected from its underlying 

fund commitments. Within MCF, CVC European 

Equity Partners V made two new acquisitions during 

the year and OCM Principal Opportunities Fund IV 

added distress for control investments to its portfolio. 

However, activity for the remaining commitments was 

limited to add-on acquisitions which were either self-

fi nanced or those which required limited equity. One of 

FUND COMMITMENT AND INVESTMENT ACTIVITY

 *Original   Outstanding
 Commitment Drawn Down Repaid Commitment
Fund £million £million £million £million

    
MCF 60.0 30.8 2.9 29.2

LGV 2 6.1 5.1 6.3 0.3

LGV 3 7.5 6.4 5.5 1.1

* Original commitment net of commitments released by LGV. ! e Company’s commitment to MCF was £60.0 million at 31 December 2009. MCP has 

put forward a proposal to LPs to release a proportionate commitment to MCF in light of the reduction to the fund size of PAI Europe V. Should LP’s 

agree to the release of commitment to MCF, then the Company’s revised commitment to MCF will be £55.0 million and the outstanding commitment 

will be £24.2 million.
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INVESTMENT MANAGER’S REVIEW
CONTINUED

MCF’s commitments, PAI Europe V, triggered its Key 

Man clause in September 2009 following the departure of 

two key executives. ! is resulted in the suspension of the 

PAI Europe V investment period. ! e investment period 

recommenced at a lower fund size of €2.7 billion on 

11 March 2010. ! is has reduced MCF’s commitment 

to PAI Europe V by 50%. ! e Company had a 

£60.0 million commitment to MCF at 31 December 2009, 

of which £29.2 million remained uncalled. Following the 

reduction in the fund size of PAI Europe V, MCP has 

put forward to LP’s a proposal to release a proportionate 

commitment to MCF. If approved by LP’s the release of 

commitment in MCF will amount to £5.0 million for the 

Company, thereby giving a revised commitment to MCF 

of £55.0 million and reducing the remaining uncalled 

commitment to MCF to £24.2 million.

! e Company has remaining commitments to LGV 2 

and LGV 3 and paid £0.1 million to LGV 3 to meet 

partnership expenses. Both LGV 2 and LGV 3 are fully 

invested, subject to drawdowns for follow-on investments, 

and the Company has outstanding commitments to 

these funds at 31 December 2009 of £0.3 million and 

£1.1 million respectively. ! ere are no outstanding 

commitments to LGV 4 and LGV 5, which are fully 

realised and are expected to be wound up shortly.

In May 2009, the Company made two £5.0 million 

investments in Sterling ‘AAA’ rated institutional money 

market funds as an effi  cient and low risk way of managing 

cash whilst maintaining liquidity. When investment 

activity picks up, the Company will realise these 

investments to fund its outstanding commitments.

! e Company’s investments via MCF continue to be 

exposed to movements in the US Dollar and Euro 

exchange rates. Whilst the Company has made a Sterling 

commitment to MCF which will not fl uctuate with 

exchange rate movements, the underlying outstanding 

commitments within MCF are predominantly exposed 

to Euro exchange rate movements. 

Realisations and Repayments 

Mithras Capital Fund

! e prevailing economic conditions and the continued 

lack of available fi nance for buyouts have meant that 

realisation activity has been limited within MCF. ! e 

Company did receive £0.5 million proceeds principally 

from the release of escrow provisions made by two exits 

from Riverside Europe III. ! e Company also received 

back from MCF a distribution of £1.1 million which 

is recallable by MCF and has increased the Company’s 

outstanding commitment to MCF. ! is relates to a 

return of capital commitment previously made by 

MCF to Oaktree Principal Opportunities Fund IV 

which can subsequently be redrawn.

Other disposals

! e Company has received proceeds of £0.9 million 

from the sale of its warrant holding in LM Group, 

a mezzanine loan investment made in 2003. ! e 

Company also received small distributions following 

escrow account releases from Meneba Beheer and 

Landal Greenparks, which were also originally 

mezzanine investments with equity warrants attached.

In March 2010, LGV 3 completed the sale of one of it’s 

underlying investments, LGC. ! e Company received 

proceeds of £4.7 million as a result of this sale. ! is is a 

non-adjusting post Balance Sheet event and represents 

a premium of £1.8 million to the carrying value of 

LGV 3 at 31 December 2009.

Revaluations

During the year, the Company recorded unrealised 

valuation uplifts of £3.0 million from MCF, net of the 

Directors’ valuation adjustment.



9

INVESTMENT MANAGER’S REVIEW
CONTINUED

! e Company recorded an unrealised valuation uplift 

of £1.0 million in the year from LGV 3. ! e valuation 

of LGV 2 remained unchanged during the year.

Liquidity

! e Group’s net cash position increased during the year 

from £12.2 million (including quoted corporate bonds 

at fair value) to £13.0 million as a result of investment 

activity.

! e Group has a Medium Term Credit Facility of 

£35.0 million to enable it to meet its outstanding 

commitment to MCF.

Investment Trust Status

HM Revenue & Customs (“HMRC”) approved the 

Company as an investment trust in 2008. ! is approval 

is subject to there being no subsequent enquiry under 

Corporation Tax Self Assessment. ! e Company 

was managed as an investment trust during 2009. 

Maintenance of this status in the future will continue 

to allow the Company’s capital gains to be reinvested 

free of tax.

Outlook

! e Company’s portfolio has performed well during 

the year in diffi  cult market conditions as evidenced 

by the growth in NAV. ! e Investment Manager 

continues to adopt a cautious and methodical 

approach to valuations in line with the latest private 

equity valuation guidelines. ! ere has been limited 

activity during the year in terms of new investments or 

realisations. ! e Company’s focus on cash generation 

and realisations in recent years has resulted in a strong 

cash position and means that the Company has not 

been faced with over-commitment issues that others in 

the private equity fund-of-funds sector have faced.

Looking forward we anticipate a pick up in both 

investment and realisation activity in the future. ! is 

will be important in maximising value for shareholders 

in accordance with the Company’s strategy.

Mithras Capital Partners LLP

Investment Manager

30 March 2010
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  Fair
  value % of
Investments   £’000 Portfolio

   

MCF limited partnership fund investments

OCM Principal Opportunities Fund IV  11,126 30

Riverside Europe Fund III  10,901 29

Doughty Hanson & Co V  6,623 18

PAI Europe V  1,726 5

CVC European Equity Partners V  2,197 6

Net current assets held in MCF  787 2

Directors’ revaluation adjustments  420 1
   
  33,780 91

LGV limited partnership funds

LGV 3 Private Equity Fund LP  2,889 8

LGV 2 Private Equity Fund LP  259 1

Net current liabilities held in LGV partnership funds  10 –
   
  3,158 9

Unquoted investments – direct

Airborne Systems Group Ltd  42 –
   
  42 –

Total investment portfolio   36,980 100
   

Geographical spread of investments by currency exposure

United Kingdom  3,987 11

Continental Europe  21,084 57

United States  11,909 32
   
Total investment portfolio  36,980 100
   

CONSOLIDATED INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO

AT 31 DECEMBER 2009
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REVIEW OF PRINCIPAL INVESTMENTS

Mithras Capital Fund LP

In April 2007, Mithras made a commitment of 

£60.0 million to MCF, a private equity fund-of-

funds managed by MCP. MCF has a returns-driven 

investment strategy which is based upon making 

commitments to predominantly pan-European buyout 

funds. MCF is now fully committed and has made 

commitments to fi ve private equity limited partnership 

funds which it believes gives good diversifi cation in 

terms of vintage, deal size, sector and geography.

MCF has made commitments to OCM Principal 

Opportunities Fund IV, Riverside Europe Fund III, 

Doughty Hanson & Co V, PAI Europe V and CVC 

European Equity Partners V.

OCM Principal Opportunities Fund IV

Logo is a trademark of Oaktree Capital Management, L.P.

In April 2007, Mithras made a US$20.0 million 

commitment to OCM Principal Opportunities 

Fund IV (“OCM POF IV”) via MCF. OCM POF 

IV makes investments in equity, equity-related and 

debt obligations of companies that it believes are 

undervalued, possibly due to some kind of distress, off er 

an opportunity for growth and provide an attractive 

risk/return profi le. OCM POF IV will attempt to 

structure its investments with a view to obtaining 

control of, or signifi cant infl uence over such companies 

either directly or through management. ! e fund size 

is US$3.3 billion.

Riverside Europe Fund III

In May 2007, Mithras made a €15.0 million 

commitment to Riverside Europe Fund III (“REF 

III”) via MCF. REF III follows a pan-European buy-

and-build strategy focused on the lower-mid buyout 

market. ! e aim will be to grow businesses acquired 

over a three to seven year period by a combination of 

making acquisitions and adopting measures to enhance 

earnings growth. Riverside’s philosophy is to buy small 

companies and grow them into larger ones with a view 

to exiting on medium to large company multiples. ! e 

fund size is €320.0 million.

Doughty Hanson & Co V

In April 2007, Mithras made a €15.0 million  commitment 

to Doughty Hanson & Co V (“DH V”) via MCF. DH 

V will seek to make controlling equity investments in 

mid-market enterprises whose headquarters are located in 

Europe or whose operations are primarily based in Europe. 

DH V will target opportunities where there is potential for 

equity value enhancement through improved revenue 

growth, market positioning, operating effi  ciencies and 

targeted acquisitions. ! e fund size is €3.0 billion.

Mithras Capital Fund LP
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PAI Europe V

In August 2007, Mithras originally made a commitment 

of €30.0 million to PAI Europe V via MCF. PAI 

Europe V seeks to make controlling equity investments 

in medium to large sized private and public companies, 

headquartered in Europe which are market-leaders that 

operate in one of PAI Europe V’s core industry sectors.

PAI Europe V aims to fundamentally improve each 

portfolio company by enhancing its strategic value 

through an industrial approach to delivering profi table 

growth. PAI Europe V will particularly focus on 

investing in consolidating sectors and in markets where 

growth can be sustained through economic and fi nancial 

market cycles. PAI Europe V triggered its Key Man 

clause in September 2009. Following a vote in December 

2009 the investment period formally recommenced, in 

March 2010, at a lower fund size of €2.7 billion. ! is 

reduction equated to a 50% decrease from the original 

fund size of €5.4 billion. On the basis of this reduction 

in fund size, Mithras now has a revised commitment of 

€15.0 million to PAI Europe V via MCF.

CVC European Equity Partners V

In March 2008, Mithras made a commitment of 

€15.0 million to CVC European Equity Partners V 

(“CVC Europe V”) via MCF. CVC Europe V seeks to 

generate long-term capital appreciation primarily by 

investing in large European buyouts or other similar 

transactions where it can exert control. CVC Europe V 

targets companies which typically exhibit at least one of 

the following characteristics: a strong market position 

or product portfolio; a realistic business plan and a 

persuasive strategy for achieving it; or an opportunity 

for cash fl ow and profi t growth internally or through 

acquisition. ! e fund size is €10.7 billion.

Financial Position of MCF

As at 31 December 2009, MCF is valued at fair value 

based upon the latest available reports received from 

the general partners of the underlying funds. As part of 

the fair valuation process performed by the Investment 

Manager, a better indication of fair value has sought  

at 31 December 2009 from all underlying managers 

and this has been refl ected as a Directors’ valuation 

adjustment in the year end valuation for MCF. Mithras’ 

undrawn commitment to MCF at 31 December 2009 

is £29.2 million (31 December 2008: £29.0 million). 

Should the proposed release of commitment to MCF be 

approved by LP’s them Mithras’ commitment to MCF 

will be £55.0 million and the undrawn commitment to 

MCF will be £24.2 million.

Mithras’ investment in MCF at 31 December 2009 

was:

• Fair value: £33.4 million (2008: £31.5 million)

• Cost: £29.6 million (2008: £30.2 million)

• % of capital owned: 50.0% (2008: 50.0%)

• Dividend and interest income in year: £nil (2008: £nil)

! e latest available audited fi nancial statements for 

MCF at 31 December 2008 stated:

• Allocation of net profi t/(loss) attributable to limited 

partners of nil;

• Net assets attributable to limited partners of 

£67.5 million.

REVIEW OF PRINCIPAL INVESTMENTS
CONTINUED
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REVIEW OF PRINCIPAL INVESTMENTS
CONTINUED

LGV 3

In November 2002, Mithras made a commitment of 

£7.5 million to LGV 3, a private equity fund managed 

by LGV. LGV invests in mid-market buyouts valued at 

over £50.0 million in the leisure, healthcare, consumer 

and service sectors. Four investments were made by 

LGV 3 between May 2003 and July 2004 of which 

two, Vue Cinemas and ! e Club Company, were 

successfully sold at a profi t in 2006. ! e two remaining 

investments in LGV 3 are LGC and Total Fitness. ! e 

fund size is £154.8 million.

Financial Position of LGV 3

As at 31 December 2009, LGV 3 was valued at fair value 

based upon the latest available fund quarterly report at 

31 December 2009. Mithras’ undrawn commitment to 

LGV 3 is £1.1 million.

Mithras’ investment in LGV 3 at 31 December 2009 

was:

• Fair value: £2.9 million (2008: £1.8 million)

• Cost: £3.3 million (2008: £3.3 million)

• % of capital owned: 4.8% (2008: 4.8%)

• Dividend and interest income in year: £nil 

(2008: £nil)

! e latest available audited fi nancial statements for 

LGV 3 at 31 December 2009 stated:

• Net profi ts attributable to limited partners of 

£2.3 million (2008: £0.4 million);

• Net assets attributable to partners of £70.1 million 

(2008: £48.9 million).

LGV 2

In January 2002, Mithras made a commitment of 

£7.5 million to LGV 2, a private equity fund managed 

by LGV. ! ree investments were made by LGV 2 

between March 2002 and September 2002 of which 

two, Unique Pubs and Molifl or, were successfully 

sold at a profi t in March 2004 and November 2005, 

respectively. ! e only investment remaining in LGV 

2 is Jeyes. ! e original fund size was £154.0 million 

which reduced to £124.7 million, after release of 

commitments, of which Mithras’ share is £6.1 million.

Financial Position of LGV 2

As at 31 December 2009, LGV 2 was valued at fair value 

based upon the latest available fund quarterly report at 

31 December 2009. Mithras’ undrawn commitment to 

LGV 2 is £0.3 million.

Mithras’ investment in LGV 2 at 31 December 2009 

was:

• Fair value: £0.3 million (2008: £0.3 million)

• Cost: £1.1 million (2008: £1.1 million)

• % of capital owned: 4.8% (2008: 4.8%)

• Dividend and interest income in year: £nil (2008: 

£nil)

! e latest available audited fi nancial statements for 

LGV 2 at 31 December 2009 stated:

• Net profi ts attributable to limited partners of 

£0.3 million (2008: £0.1 million);

• Net assets attributable to partners of £5.6 million 

(2008: £10.7 million).
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

! e Directors who were in offi  ce at the end of the year 

are listed below.

Chairman

Mike Wooderson (Chairman of the Management 

Engagement and the Nomination Committees)

Aged 56, is managing director of the International 

Banking division of the Wealth and International 

Trading Division of Lloyds Banking Group. He joined 

the Bank of Scotland in 1997 from ! e Royal Bank of 

Scotland plc. 

Appointed 2001.

Directors

William Maltby

Aged 50, is vice chairman of Investment Banking at 

Deutsche Bank. He is a qualifi ed accountant with an 

extensive career history in corporate fi nance.

Appointed 2005.

David Shearer (Chairman of the Audit Committee)

Aged 51, a qualifi ed chartered accountant, is deputy 

chairman of Aberdeen New Dawn Investment Trust 

plc, senior independent director of STV Group 

plc, Renold plc and Superglass Holdings plc, a non-

executive director of Martin Currie Holdings Limited 

and Scottish Financial Enterprise and a governor of 

the Glasgow School of Art. Mr Shearer recently stood 

down as chairman of Crest Nicholson plc following the 

successful restructuring of that business and was until 

early 2007 a non-executive director of HBOS plc.

Appointed 2007.

Fabian French

Aged 50, is director of fundraising of Marie Curie 

Cancer Care and a non-executive director of 

Goodenough College, both charitable organisations. 

He previously worked in senior corporate fi nance roles 

for Daiwa Securities SMBC Europe Ltd, Merrill Lynch 

International and Dresdner Kleinwort.

Appointed 2008.

All Directors are members of the Nomination, Audit 

and Management Engagement Committees and are 

non-executive. No remuneration Committee has been 

established.

All Directors are independent of the Investment 

Manager in accordance with the provisions of the 

Association of Investment Companies Code of 

Corporate Governance (the “AIC Code”).
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! e Directors present their Annual Financial Report 

for the Group for the year ended 31 December 2009. 

! e Group comprises Mithras and its wholly owned 

subsidiaries, Mithras Investments Limited (“MIL”) 

and Mithras Capital Holdings Limited (“MCH”). At 

31 December 2009, MCH also owned 90% of MCP 

and its wholly owned subsidiary Mithras Capital 

Partners GP Limited (“MCGP”).

Business Review

Operating Environment

! e Company is an investment company as defi ned by 

Section 833 of the Companies Act 2006.

As a self-managed investment trust company, the 

Company has no employees and delegates most of its 

functions to third party service providers. Accordingly, 

your Board has focused this review on the Group’s 

fi nancial performance for the year ended 31 December 

2009.

Since fl otation in February 1994, the Directors have 

sought to conduct the aff airs of the Company so that 

it satisfi es the conditions for approval as an investment 

trust set out in Section 842 of the Income & Corporation 

Taxes Act 1988 (“ICTA”), and confi rmation has been 

received from HMRC that the Company has complied 

with these requirements for all accounting periods up 

to and including 31 December 2008. ! is approval is 

subject to there being no subsequent enquiry under 

Corporation Tax Self Assessment. In the opinion of the 

Directors, the Company has subsequently conducted 

its aff airs so that it should continue to qualify. ! e 

Company is not a close company within the terms of 

the ICTA.

! e current portfolio of the Company is such that 

its shares are eligible for inclusion in an Individual 

Savings Account (“ISA”), and the Directors expect this 

eligibility to be maintained.

Investment Objective and Policy

! e objective of the Company is to achieve over the 

longer term a total return in excess of the FTSE All-

Share Index with dividends reinvested.

On Friday, 30 January 2009, shareholders approved a 

change in investment policy which can be found on 

page 1. ! e Company’s principal activity is investing 

in private equity in accordance with this investment 

policy. A description of the Group’s activities during 

the year is given in the Chairman’s Statement on pages 

4 to 6 and in the Investment Manager’s Review on 

pages 7 to 9.

Performance

A number of performance measures are considered by 

the Board and the Investment Manager in assessing the 

Company’s success in achieving its objectives. ! e key 

performance indicators (“KPIs”) used to measure the 

progress and performance of the Company over time 

are established industry measures and are as follows:

• Revenue return before taxation: ! e revenue return 

before taxation is carefully monitored by the Board 

at every meeting;

• Movement in NAV: ! e Board regularly reviews 

the performance of the portfolio in relation to the 

NAV. ! e NAV per Ordinary share at 31 December 

2009 was 137.2 pence (2008: 128.4 pence);

• Movement in share price: ! e Board regularly 

reviews the performance of the portfolio in relation 

to the share price. ! e share price per Ordinary 

share at 31 December 2009 was 69.0 pence (2008: 

69.0 pence). As at 29 March 2010 the share price 

was 84.5 pence;

• Total return on equity: At each Board meeting, the 

Board monitors the level of the Company’s total 

return on equity;

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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• Dividends per share: ! e Board has recommended 

a dividend totalling 2.0 pence per share (2008: 

5.0 pence per share) due to the level of cash and 

revenue reserves held within the Group; and

• Total expense ratio (“TER”): ! e TER is a measure of 

the total expenses incurred by the Company expressed 

as a percentage of the owners funds at the year end. 

! e Board regularly reviews the TER and monitors 

all Company expenses. ! e TER for the year ended 

31 December 2009 was 2.1% (2008: 3.6% or 3.1% 

excluding the cost of the strategic review).

Details of the Company’s performance against these 

KPIs can be found in the Performance Summary on 

page 3.

In addition to the aforementioned KPIs, the Board 

monitors the activity in the Company’s shares and any 

discount to the NAV at which they trade.

Financial Position

! e profi t on ordinary activities after tax for the year 

ended 31 December 2009 was £5.1 million (2008: 

£0.2 million). Further details can be found in the 

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income on 

page 36.

! e Directors are recommending the payment of a 

fi nal dividend of 2.0 pence per Ordinary 2 pence share 

(2008: fi nal dividend of 2.0 pence and special dividend 

of 3.0 pence per Ordinary 2 pence share) resulting in a 

total dividend for the year of 2.0 pence per share (2008: 

5.0 pence per share). ! e fi nal dividend will be paid 

on 27 May 2010 to shareholders on the Register of 

Members at the close of business on 9 April 2010.

Current and Future Developments

Details of the Company’s key developments during 

the year ended 31 December 2009, together with its 

prospects for the future, are set out in the Chairman’s 

Statement on pages 4 to 6 and the Investment Manager’s 

Review on pages 7 to 9. ! ese are in no way intended 

to be a detailed forecast.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

! e Board, in conjunction with the Investment 

Manager, has established a risk management framework 

within the context of the Company’s overall objective 

to achieve over the longer term a total return in excess 

of the FTSE All-Share Index. ! e Board and the Audit 

Committee are responsible for the risk management 

framework, which enables the Company to assess the 

overall risk exposure of the Company and to successfully 

manage such risk.

General Risks Associated with Investment in 

Private Equity

Investment in private equity involves a high degree of 

risk. ! e Group invests in private equity through its 

exposure to buyout and development capital funds. 

Such investments are illiquid and might be diffi  cult 

to realise, particularly within a short timeframe. ! e 

Directors seek to maintain a diversifi ed portfolio of 

investments to mitigate these risks.

Financial Risks:

By its nature as an investment trust, the Company’s 

business activities are exposed to market risk (including 

currency risk, interest rate risk and market price risk), 

liquidity risk, and credit and counterparty risk. Details 

of these risks and how they are managed are set out in 

note 25 to the Financial Statements on pages 66 to 71.

Operational Risks: 

As the Company’s main functions are delegated to 

third party service providers, operational risk arises 

from inadequate processes of internal control of those 

service providers. ! is would include, for example, non-

compliance with statutes and regulations governing the 

functions of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
CONTINUED
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Operational risks are assessed by the Board, which 

receives timely reports from its main service providers 

as to the internal control processes in place within 

those organisations, which serve to minimise the risk 

exposure to the Company. ! e Board and the Audit 

Committee annually review the internal control reports 

of the Company’s service providers.

MCP is governed by its own board and, with eff ect from 

14 May 2008, the Company has its own designated 

representative, Mr Maltby, who acts on behalf of MCH, 

the Controlling Member of the MCP board. MCP holds 

quarterly board meetings and minutes of these meetings 

are provided to the Board. MCP also completes an 

annual Senior Management Arrangements, Systems 

and Controls (“SYSC”) report which is made available 

to the Board and which documents the risks and 

controls within MCP.

Investment and Strategy Risks:

An inappropriate investment strategy, for example 

inappropriate asset allocation, may lead to 

underperformance against the Company’s benchmark 

index and peer companies. ! e revised investment 

strategy of the Company was approved by shareholders 

on 30 January 2009 and is detailed on page 1. ! e 

Board considers at each meeting the performance of 

the investment portfolio and has established investment 

restrictions and guidelines within which the Investment 

Manager operates.

Market Risks:

Market risk arises from volatility in the prices of the 

Company’s investments. It represents the potential loss 

to the Company through the holding of investments in 

the face of negative market movements.

! e Board has established investment restrictions and 

guidelines that are monitored and reported against 

by the Investment Manager. ! e Board as a whole 

periodically reviews the asset allocation.

Valuation Risks:

! e Group’s exposure to valuation risk comprises 

mainly movements in the value of its underlying 

investments. A breakdown of the Group’s portfolio of 

private equity funds is given on page 10. All underlying 

investments are valued at fair value by the Directors 

in accordance with the current International Private 

Equity and Venture Capital (“IPEVC”) Guidelines. 

! e IPEVC Guidelines contain detailed methodology 

setting out best practice with respect to valuing 

unquoted investments. Valuation risks are mitigated 

by a comprehensive review of underlying investments 

in the private equity funds which are carried out by 

the managers of the private equity funds twice each 

year. ! ese valuations are then considered by the Audit 

Committee and the Board with advice and assistance 

from the Investment Manager, the managers of the 

private equity funds and other advisers as appropriate. 

! e Company’s Auditors also reviews the valuations 

as part of their audit and agrees any changes with the 

Audit Committee and the Board.

Accounting, Legal and Regulatory Risks:

In order to qualify as an investment trust, the 

Company must comply with Section 842 of the ICTA. 

Details of the Company’s approval are given under 

‘Operating Environment’ above. Should the Company 

be in breach of Section 842 of the ICTA, it may lose 

its investment trust status and as a consequence gains 

within the Company’s portfolio would be subject to 

Capital Gains Tax. ! e Investment Manager monitors 

the Section 842 of the ICTA qualifi cation criteria and 

provides a report to the Board at each meeting.
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As an entity listed on the London Stock Exchange, the 

Company must also comply with the Listing, Prospectus 

and Disclosure and Transparency Rules of the Financial 

Services Authority (“FSA”). Breach of these rules may 

result in the shares of the Company being suspended 

from listing which in turn would be a breach of 

Section 842 of the ICTA. ! e Board uses its Company 

Secretary and professional third party advisers to ensure 

compliance with law and regulation.

Directors

! e Directors of the Company, who held offi  ce at the 

end of the year under review, and their biographical 

details are set out on page 14.

! e Board agreed a formalised arrangement for the 

timely refreshment of its membership, in line with the 

principles of the AIC Code. In accordance with this 

policy, Mr Wooderson is subject to annual re-election 

following nine years of service and so is due to be re-

elected at the 2010 AGM. In accordance with the Articles 

of Association, Mr French is due to be re-elected at 

the 2010 AGM. ! e Nomination Committee, having 

reviewed their individual performance as Directors and 

their contribution to the operation of the Company, 

concluded that the Company benefi ted from their 

services. Accordingly, the Committee recommended to 

the Board that a resolution be put to shareholders for 

their re-election as Directors. ! e Board recommends 

that shareholders vote in favour of both Mr Wooderson 

and Mr French’s re-election.

No Director has a contract of service with the Company.

No Director, nor any persons connected with them, had 

a material interest in any of the Group’s transactions, 

arrangements or agreements during the year ended 

31 December 2009.

! e Bank of Scotland, now part of the Lloyds Banking 

Group, is one of the principal bankers to the Group 

and was, until 18 December 2009, a signifi cant 

shareholder in the Company holding 14.42% of 

the Company’s shares. Mr Wooderson, as managing 

director, International Banking Division, has no 

direct involvement in the provision of credit facilities 

to the Group or any decisions made concerning its 

shareholding. Lloyds Banking Group operates eff ective 

“Chinese Walls” to ensure that no such involvement 

can take place.

Confl icts of Interest

Directors have a duty to avoid situations where they 

have, or could have, a direct or indirect interest that 

confl icts, or possibly could confl ict, with the Company’s 

DIRECTORS’ BENEFICIAL AND FAMILY INTERESTS

 At 31 December 2009 At 31 December 2008
 Ordinary shares  Ordinary shares
 Benefi cial  Non-benefi cial Benefi cial  Non-benefi cial
    

M Wooderson 25,000 – 25,000 –
P L F French 32,500 – – –
W J Maltby 20,000 75,000 20,000 –
D J B Shearer  – – – –

! ere have been no changes to the above holdings between 31 December 2009 and the date of this Report.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
CONTINUED
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and Group’s interests. With eff ect from 1 October 

2008, the Companies Act 2006 (the “Act”), has allowed 

Directors of public companies to authorise such confl icts 

and potential confl icts, where appropriate, but only if 

the Articles of Association contain a provision to this 

eff ect. ! ere are two safe harbours – either the situation 

cannot reasonably be regarded as likely to give rise to 

a confl ict of interest or the matter has been authorised 

in advance by the Directors. ! e Company’s Articles 

of Association, which were approved by shareholders 

at the AGM in May 2008 and which were eff ective 

from 1 October 2008, give the Directors the relevant 

authority required to deal with confl icts of interest. A 

Register of confl icts of interest has been compiled and 

approved by the Board.

! e Directors have also undertaken to notify the 

Chairman and Company Secretary as soon as they 

become aware of any new potential confl ict of interest 

that would need to be considered and approved by 

the disinterested Directors and added to the Register, 

which is reviewed annually by the Board. In deciding 

whether to approve a confl ict of interest, disinterested 

Directors will act in a way they consider, in good faith, 

will be most likely to promote the Company’s success in 

taking such a decision. ! e Board can impose limits or 

conditions when giving authorisation if the Directors 

consider this to be appropriate.

! e Board believes that its powers of authorisation 

of confl icts has operated eff ectively since they were 

introduced on 1 October 2008. ! e Board also 

confi rms that its procedures for the approval of confl icts 

of interest have been followed by all the Directors.

Management and Signifi cant Agreements

! e Group’s investments are managed by MCP, who 

were appointed as Investment Manager during the 

year under an Agreement eff ective from 1 April 2009 

with the Company. Under the terms of the Investment 

Management Agreement, management fees of £64,000 

per annum are payable quarterly in arrears by the Group.

! e Investment Manager does not receive a fee 

on assets for which it receives a fee under the 

partnership agreements nor on investments in 

MCF. ! e Investment Management Agreement 

between MIT and MCP may be terminated by 

either party at not less than twelve months’ written 

notice without penalty. During the year ended 

31 December 2009, MCP received fees (inclusive of 

Value Added Tax (“VAT”) where applicable) from 

the Group amounting to £48,000 (2008 fees paid to 

previous Investment Manager, LGV Capital Limited: 

£208,000) (see note 6 to the Financial Statements on 

page 52). ! e Company and Investment Manager are 

supported by Capita Financial Group – Specialist Fund 

Services who provide administration and accounting 

services for the Company. ! e Agreement between 

the Company and Capita Financial Group may be 

terminated by either party giving twelve months 

written notice at any time.

Company secretarial services have been delegated by 

BNP Paribas Securities Services to their wholly owned 

subsidiary, BNP Paribas Secretarial Services Limited. ! e 

Agreement may be terminated by either party giving not 

less than six months’ written notice at any time.

! ere are no agreements that the Company is party 

to that would be aff ected following a takeover bid, 

other than the Credit Facility Agreement with Lloyds 

Banking Group which if drawn upon would have to be 

repaid prior to a change of control.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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Continuing Appointment of the Investment Manager

Having reviewed the Investment Manager’s performance, 

the Board is satisfi ed with the Investment Manager’s 

continued ability to produce satisfactory results. 

Accordingly, the Board believes that the continued 

appointment of the Investment Manager, on its current 

terms, is in the interest of shareholders. Such a review is 

carried out on an annual basis.

Section 992 of the Act Disclosures

• the Company’s capital structure is summarised on 

page 61. ! ere are no restrictions concerning the 

transfer of securities in the Company and there 

are no limitations between holders of securities 

regarding their transfer known to the Company;

• no restrictions exist on voting rights, including 

limitations on voting rights of holders of a given 

percentage or number of votes; deadlines for 

existing voting rights; and arrangements by which, 

with the Company’s cooperation, fi nancial rights 

carried by securities are held by a person other than 

the holder of the securities;

• details of the substantial shareholders in the 

Company are listed on page 22;

• the Company does not have an employee’s share 

scheme;

• the rules concerning the appointment and 

replacement of Directors, amendment of the 

Articles of Association and powers to issue the 

Company’s shares are contained in the Articles of 

Association of the Company and the Act;

• no agreements exist to which the Company is party 

that may eff ect its control following a takeover bid; 

and

• no agreements exist between the Company and its 

Directors providing for compensation for loss of 

offi  ce that may occur because of a takeover bid.

Environmental Policy

! e Board recognises the requirement under Section 

417(5) of the Act to detail information about 

environmental matters (including the impact of the 

Company’s business on the environment), any Company 

employees and social and community issues; including 

information about any policies it has in relation to 

these matters and eff ectiveness of these policies.

As an investment company with no employees, 

property or activities outside investment management, 

environmental policy has limited application.

Notwithstanding this, the Investment Manager 

considers the governance practices of investee 

companies in their broadest sense, which includes social, 

environmental and ethical factors where these may 

aff ect the Company’s fi nancial performance. Provided 

that the Company’s objective is not compromised in the 

process the Board does, however, believe that it is also 

possible to develop a framework that, in the interest of 

shareholders, allows a broader range of considerations, 

including environmental and social issues, to be taken 

into account when selecting and retaining investments. 

Under the revised investment policy, the Company will 

make no new limited partnership commitments and 

no new investments in listed vehicles.

Creditor Payment Policy and Practice

It is the Company’s payment policy to obtain the best 

possible terms for all business and therefore there is 

no consistent policy as to terms used. ! e Company 

agrees with its suppliers the terms on which business 

will take place and it is the policy to abide by those 

terms. Payment is made on these terms normally 

within 30 working days provided the supplier meets 

its obligations.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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At 31 December 2009 there were no trade payables 

outstanding (2008: £nil).

Going Concern

! e Directors have agreed that it is appropriate to 

continue to adopt the going concern basis in the 

preparation of the Financial Statements, as after due 

consideration, the Directors are of the opinion that 

the Group has adequate resources to continue in 

operational existence for the foreseeable future.

Independent Auditors

Having been appointed in 2003, the Independent 

Auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, have expressed 

their willingness to continue in offi  ce as Auditors. 

! e Audit Committee has responsibility for making a 

recommendation to the Board on the re-appointment 

of the external Auditors. After careful consideration of 

the services provided to the Group during the year and 

a review of the eff ectiveness of the external Auditors, 

the Audit Committee recommended to the Board that 

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP should be re-appointed 

as Auditors to the Group. Accordingly, resolutions 

are to be proposed at the forthcoming AGM for their 

re-appointment, and to authorise the Directors to agree 

their remuneration for the ensuing year. ! ere do not 

exist any contractual obligations that restrict the choice 

of Auditor.

Disclosure of Information to Auditors

! e Directors at the date of approval of this Report, as 

listed on page 14, confi rm that:

• to the best of their knowledge and belief, there is 

no relevant information of which the Company’s 

Auditors are unaware; and

• each Director has taken all the steps that they 

ought to have taken as a Director in order to make 

themselves aware of any relevant audit information 

and to establish that the Company’s Auditors are 

aware of that information.

! e above confi rmation is given and should be 

interpreted in accordance with the provision of Section 

418 of the Act.

Annual General Meeting

! e twentieth AGM of the Company will be held on 

Wednesday, 12 May 2010 at the offi  ces of JPMorgan 

Cazenove Limited, 20 Moorgate, London, EC2R 6DA 

at 12.00 noon. ! e business to be transacted at the 

meeting is detailed in the Notice of Meeting contained 

on page 72.

Authority to Allot and Disapply Pre-emption Rights

! e current authority for Directors to allot Ordinary 

shares without fi rst off ering them to existing shareholders 

in accordance with statutory pre-emption procedure 

will expire at the forthcoming AGM. ! e Directors 

believe it to be in shareholders’ interests to continue 

to have such an authority for the forthcoming year 

and accordingly will seek to renew the authority to 

allot shares and to disapply pre-emption rights at the 

forthcoming AGM.

Appropriate resolutions to renew both authorities will 

be proposed at the forthcoming AGM and are set out in 

full in the Notice of Meeting on page 72. An ordinary 

resolution will be proposed to authorise the Directors 

to allot shares up to a maximum aggregate nominal 

amount of £36,287 (being 5% of the total share capital 

in issue on 30 March 2010) and a special resolution 

will be proposed to give the Directors authority to 

allot securities for cash on a non pre-emptive basis. If 

renewed these authorities will expire at the conclusion 

of AGM in 2011.

! e Directors do not intend to allot shares pursuant 

to these authorities other than to take advantage of 

opportunities in the market as they arise and only if 

they believe it to be advantageous to the Company’s 

existing shareholders to do so.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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Articles of Association

! e Company proposes to adopt new Articles of 

Association which refl ect the fi nal provisions of the 

Act which came into force on 1 October 2009 and the 

Shareholders’ Rights Regulations. ! e principal changes 

that have impacted the new Articles of Association can 

be found in the Explanatory Notes to the Notice of 

Meeting on pages 78 and 79. Other changes, which are 

of a minor, technical or clarifying nature and also some 

more minor changes which merely refl ect changes made 

by the Act and the Shareholders’ Rights Regulations 

have not been noted in the Appendix.

A copy of the current Articles of Association and 

the proposed new Articles of Association will be 

available for inspection during normal business hours 

(Saturday, Sundays and public holidays excepted) at 

the Company’s registered offi  ce from the date of this 

Report up until the close of the AGM. Copies will 

also be available at the offi  ces of JPMorgan Cazenove 

Limited, 20 Moorgate, London EC2R 6DA, being the 

place of the AGM, for 15 minutes prior to, and during, 

the meeting.

Recommendation

! e Directors consider that passing the resolutions 

proposed at the AGM will be in the best interests of the 

Company and shareholders as a whole and unanimously 

recommend that shareholders vote in favour of each 

of those resolutions, as they intend to do so, in respect 

of their own benefi cial and non-benefi cial holdings 

which amount in aggregate to 152,500 Ordinary shares 

representing 0.42% of the voting rights of the Company.

Corporate Governance

Background

! e Company is committed to high standards of 

corporate governance and has applied the principles 

of good governance set out in the AIC Code. Copies 

of the AIC Code can be found on www.theaic.co.uk. 

! e AIC Code has been endorsed by the Financial 

Reporting Council and compliance with the AIC Code 

enables the Company to meet its obligations in relation 

to the provisions of the Combined Code 2008 insofar 

as they relate to the Company’s Business.

! e Board considers that throughout the year ended 

31 December 2009, the Board has complied with 

the principles of the AIC Code, with the exception 

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDINGS

As at 3 March 2010, the Company had received notifi cation of the following interests exceeding 3% of the 

Ordinary share capital of the Company or 3% of the voting rights of the Ordinary shares in issue:

Benefi cial Owner  No. of Shares  % of Share Capital
  

Legal & General Assurance Society Limited  12,583,845  34.68

C G Asset Management Limited  4,105,000  11.31

Troy Asset Management Limited  3,895,000  10.73

East Riding of Yorkshire Council  3,500,000  9.65

A R B Johnson  1,625,030  4.48

South Yorkshire Pensions UK Fund Authority  1,517,480  4.18

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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of the recommendation concerning the appointment 

of a Senior Independent Director. ! is Corporate 

Governance Statement, together with the Director’s 

Responsibilities Statement set out on pages 29 and 30, 

demonstrates how the Company has complied with 

the AIC Code.

Board Responsibilities

! e Directors have a duty to promote the success of 

the Company. To this end, the Board is responsible for 

determining the strategic direction of the Company. 

It meets at least four times per year to review the 

performance of the Company’s investments, the 

fi nancial position of the Company, its performance in 

line with the agreed investment objective and all other 

important issues to ensure control is maintained over 

the Company’s aff airs and that it operates within a 

framework of prudent and eff ective controls. All the 

Directors are non-executive and most of the Company’s 

day-to-day responsibilities are delegated to third party 

service providers. ! erefore, a schedule of matters 

specifi cally reserved to the Board for its decision has 

been adopted.

! ere is a clear division of responsibility between the 

Chairman, the Directors, the Investment Manager 

and the other third party service providers. No one 

individual has unfettered powers of decision. ! e 

Chairman is responsible for leading the Board and 

ensuring its eff ectiveness in all aspects of its role and 

for ensuring that the Directors receive accurate, timely 

and clear information. ! e Investment Manager and 

the Company Secretary liaise with the Chairman prior 

to each meeting to agree agenda content and papers to 

be submitted to the Board and Committee meetings. 

! e Chairman also ensures that there is regular 

communication with shareholders. ! e Chairman 

at the time of his appointment was, and remains, 

independent of the Investment Manager. Details of the 

Chairman’s professional commitments are included in 

his biography on page 14.

! e Board has delegated the following responsibilities 

to the Investment Manager: development of strategic 

plans and the taking of decisions as to the investment 

of the portfolio assets of the Company. Representatives 

of the Investment Manager attend each Board meeting, 

enabling the Board to review the Investment Manager’s 

performance against the Company’s investment 

objective, portfolio risk and the attribution analysis. 

In addition, their attendance aff ords the Board the 

opportunity to seek clarifi cation on specifi c issues. 

! e Board takes responsibility for the content of 

major corporate communications and the Investment 

Manager informs the Board of any relevant promotional 

material that is issued.

! e Board has formalised arrangements under which 

the Directors, in furtherance of their duties, may take 

independent professional advice at the Company’s 

expense. ! e Company Secretary is responsible for 

advising the Board, through the Chairman, on all 

governance matters and ensuring compliance with 

applicable rules, regulations and Company procedures. 

! e Directors have access to the advice and services 

of the Company Secretary through its appointed 

representatives. ! e appointment and removal of the 

Company Secretary is a matter for the whole Board. 

It is the Chairman’s responsibility to ensure that the 

Directors have suffi  cient knowledge to fulfi l their 

role and Directors are encouraged to participate in 

training courses as appropriate. In addition, the Board 

is regularly provided with information to enable it to 

discharge its duties. ! e Investment Manager provides 

such information as requested by the Board in addition 

to timely clarifi cation or amplifi cation of specifi c 

issues from time to time. ! e Company Secretary is 

responsible for ensuring good information fl ows. 
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Directors and Directors’ Independence

! ere has been no change to the Board during the 

year ended 31 December 2009. At the year end the 

Board comprised the Chairman and three Directors. 

As the Board is comprised solely of non-executive 

Directors, there is no chief executive position within 

the Company. ! e names of the Directors who were 

in offi  ce at the end of the fi nancial year, together with 

their biographical details are set out on page 14. ! e 

Board considers that all Directors are independent in 

character and judgment and comply with the criteria 

for independence as set out in the AIC Code.

All Directors are equally responsible under the law for 

the proper conduct of the Company’s aff airs. In addition, 

they are responsible for ensuring that their policies and 

operations are in the best interests of all the Company’s 

shareholders and that the interests of the creditors and 

suppliers to the Company are properly considered.

! e Board is satisfi ed that it is of suffi  cient size, with an 

appropriate balance of skills and experiences, and that 

no individual or group of individuals is, or has been, in 

a position to dominate decision-making.

During the year under review, it was agreed by the 

Board that, given the small size of the Board, the 

opportunity for open discussions and the breadth of 

investment, commercial and professional knowledge of 

each Director enabling them to address any concerns 

conveyed to them, there has not been a need to appoint 

a Senior Independent Director at the current time. ! is 

matter is reviewed annually.

Professional Development

On appointment, new Directors will take part in 

an induction programme, which covers the Group’s 

investment strategy, policies and practices. New 

Directors will also receive information on the role of the 

Board and the matters reserved for its decision, the terms 

of reference for the Board Committees, the Company’s 

corporate governance practices and procedures and the 

latest fi nancial information. ! roughout their time in 

offi  ce, Directors are continually updated on the Group’s 

business, the regulatory environment in which it operates 

and other changes aff ecting the Group by its advisers 

through written briefi ngs and at Board meetings.

Performance Evaluation

! e Directors recognise the importance of the AIC 

Code’s recommendations in respect of evaluating the 

performance of the Board as a whole, the Committees 

of the Board and the individual Directors.

MEETING ATTENDANCE

     Management
  Scheduled Audit Nomination Engagement
  Board Committee Committee Committee
  Meetings Meetings Meeting Meeting
     

Total  4 3 1 1

M Wooderson  4 3 1 1

P L F French  4 3 1 1

W J Maltby  4 3 1 1

D J B Shearer  4 3 1 1

During the year under review, an additional six exceptional Board meetings took place.
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! e Board has formalised a process by which to evaluate 

its own performance and that of the Chairman on an 

annual basis. ! is process is based on an open discussion 

and assessment of the Board, its Committees and the 

individual Directors in terms of:

• attendance at Board and Committee meetings;

• the independence of Directors;

• the ability of Directors to make eff ective 

contributions to the meetings through their range 

of skills and experience; and

• the Board’s ability to challenge the Investment 

Manager’s recommendations, suggest areas of 

debate and fi x timetables for debates on the future 

strategy of the Company.

! e Chairman uses the feedback from these sessions 

to make recommendations to improve performance 

where necessary. ! e Board considers annually, in the 

absence of the Chairman, matters pertaining to his 

performance. It was concluded that the performance of 

the Directors was satisfactory in all areas and they were 

confi dent in their ability to make eff ective contributions 

and to demonstrate commitment to their roles.

Re-election

Directors are appointed subject to the provisions of the 

Act and the Company’s Articles of Association.

! e Directors of the Company have not been appointed 

subject to a service contract. ! e terms and conditions 

of their appointments are set out in the letters of 

appointment, which are available for inspection at the 

registered offi  ce of the Company and at the AGM.

! e re-appointment of a Director is reviewed by the 

Nomination Committee prior to a Director seeking re-

election at an impending AGM. Re-appointment is not 

automatic and is subject to a review of performance. All 

Directors are subject to election by shareholders at the fi rst 

AGM after their appointment. ! ereafter, all Directors 

are subject to re-election in accordance with the Articles 

of Association. No Director would serve more than three 

years in offi  ce without shareholder approval.

Directors’ Remuneration

! e Board as a whole considers Directors’ remuneration 

in accordance with the limits set by the Articles of 

Association and a separate Remuneration Committee 

has not been established.

Directors’ remuneration during the year under review 

is contained in the Director’s Report on Remuneration 

on pages 31 to 33.

Board Committees

In order to enable the Directors to discharge their 

duties, three Board Committees, with written 

terms of reference, have operated throughout the 

year. Committee membership is set out on page 

14. Attendance at the meetings of the various 

Committees is restricted to members and those 

persons expressly invited to attend. BNP Paribas 

Secretarial Services Limited acts as Company Secretary 

to each Committee. Copies of the terms of reference 

for the Board Committees are available from the 

Company Secretary and are on the Company’s website, 

www.mithrasinvestmenttrust.com.
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Audit Committee

! e Audit Committee convened three meetings during 

the year ended 31 December 2009. Mr Shearer is 

Chairman of the Audit Committee. ! e other members 

comprise all the independent, non-executive Directors, 

namely Messrs French, Maltby and Wooderson. All 

members of the Committee have relevant fi nancial and 

investment experience, as a result of their current or 

recent employment in the fi nancial services and other 

industries. As the Chairman of the Committee, Mr 

Shearer has relevant and recent fi nancial experience 

as a qualifi ed Chartered Accountant. All Committee 

members attended the three meetings. ! e Audit 

Committee operates within clearly defi ned terms of 

reference, which are reviewed annually and, provides a 

forum through which the Company’s external Auditors 

report to the Board.

! e main responsibilities of the Audit Committee 

include monitoring the integrity of the Company’s 

Financial Statements and appropriateness of its 

accounting policies; reviewing the internal control 

systems and the risks to which the Company is 

exposed; and making recommendations to the Board 

regarding the appointment of the external Auditors, 

the independence and objectivity of the Audit fi rm and 

the eff ectiveness of the audit process. 

! e Committee annually reviews the performance of 

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, the Company’s external 

Auditors. In doing so the Committee considers a range 

of factors including the quality of service, the Auditors’ 

specialist expertise and the level of audit fee. ! e 

Committee remains satisfi ed with their eff ectiveness 

and therefore has not considered it necessary, to date, 

to require the external Auditors to tender for the audit 

work. ! e external Auditors are required to rotate the 

audit partner every fi ve years and the current partner 

has been in place for two years. ! ere are no contractual 

obligations restricting the choice of external Auditor.

As the Company has no employees there is no 

dedicated resource to the Audit Committee. However, 

representatives from Capita Financial Group – Specialist 

Fund Services, who produced the fi nancial information 

for the Company for the year ended 31 December 2009, 

are invited to attend and present on issues as required. 

In addition, representatives of PricewaterhouseCoopers 

LLP, the Company’s Auditors, attend the Audit 

Committee meeting at which the draft Annual Financial 

Report is reviewed and are given the opportunity, 

should they so wish, to speak to the Audit Committee 

members without the presence of the representatives of 

the Investment Manager.

! e Audit Committee regularly monitors the non-

audit services provided to the Group by its external 

Auditors, and has developed a formal policy on auditor 

independence to ensure that such services do not 

impair the independence or objectivity of the Auditors. 

Details of the amounts paid to the external Auditors 

during the fi nancial year, for audit and other services, 

are set out in note 7 to the Financial Statements on 

page 53.

! e Audit Committee considers annually whether there 

is any need for an internal audit function. As all of the 

Company’s functions are delegated to third parties, and 

at least two major suppliers, Capita Financial Group 

– Specialist Fund Services and BNP Paribas Securities 

Services, have their own internal audit function, it has 

been agreed that it is appropriate for the Company to 

rely on the internal audit controls which are in place at 

these companies. Accordingly, it has been agreed that 

it would be inappropriate for the Company to have an 

internal audit function.
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! e Company, through its wholly owned subsidiary 

MCH, is the Controlling Member of MCP, which is 

an FSA regulated entity, and has its own designated 

representative on the board of MCP. MCP hold quarterly 

board meetings and these minutes are made available to 

the Board. MCP is supported by a third party compliance 

consultant who provides periodic compliance monitoring 

services and reports which are provided to both the MCP 

board and the Company Board.

! e Company does not have a whistleblowing policy 

in place. ! e Company delegates its main functions to 

third party providers who have such policies in place 

and the Audit Committee is happy to accept that these 

policies meet industry standards.

Nomination Committee

! e Nomination Committee has defi ned terms 

of reference and is responsible for identifying and 

nominating to the Board new Directors, and for 

proposing that existing Directors be re-elected prior to 

each AGM.

As the Board is considered small for the purposes 

of the AIC Code, the Nomination Committee 

comprises all members of the Board and is chaired 

by Mr Wooderson, except on those occasions when 

the Committee is reviewing the performance of the 

Chairman. In such instances, an independent Director 

chairs the Committee. ! e Nomination Committee 

meets at least annually and all Directors attended the 

meeting held during the year under review.

! e Board has not formally set a timetable for 

succession but a policy on the tenure of the Directors’ 

appointments has been agreed. ! e Nomination 

Committee considers succession planning bearing 

in mind the balance of skills on the Board and will 

recommend when further recruitment of non-

executive Directors is required.

Management Engagement Committee

! e Management Engagement Committee was 

established to review the performance of the third 

party service providers, including the Investment 

Manager, and to review their terms of engagement. 

! e Committee meets annually and is chaired by Mr 

Wooderson. As the Board is considered small for the 

purposes of the AIC Code, the Committee consists 

of all the non-executive Directors of the Company. 

All Committee members attended the meeting held 

during the year under review.

Relations with Shareholders

! e Board aims to ensure that shareholders are kept 

fully informed of developments in the Company’s 

business through its published Annual and Interim 

Financial Reports. ! is information is supplemented 

by the publication of Interim Management Statements 

during the six months between the Annual and Interim 

Financial Report periods and these are announced to 

the London Stock Exchange, as well as being available 

on the Company’s website.

! e Directors are always available to enter into 

dialogue with shareholders and the Company places a 

great deal of importance upon such communications. 

! e Investment Manager, together with the Chairman 

if requested, is available to meet with the Company’s 

institutional shareholders to discuss matters of the 

Company’s investment strategy, performance and 

governance. Discussions with institutional shareholders 

are reported to the Board.

It is the intention of the Board that the Annual Financial 

Report for the year ended 31 December 2009 and 

Notice of the AGM be issued to shareholders so as to 

provide at least twenty working days notice of the AGM. 

Shareholders wishing to lodge questions in advance of 

the AGM are invited to do so by writing to the Company 

Secretary at the registered offi  ce address given on page 85. 

At all other times, the Company will respond directly to 

shareholder letters on a range of issues.
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All shareholders have the opportunity to attend and vote 

at the AGM during which the Board and the Investment 

Manager are available to discuss issues aff ecting the 

Company. Proxy votes are declared at AGMs and 

published on the Company’s website. As part of the 

AGM, a presentation is made to shareholders on the 

Company’s performance and prospects. All Directors 

intend to attend this year’s AGM and shareholders are 

encouraged to attend and to vote on the resolutions 

detailed in the Notice of the Meeting on page 72.

! e Company discloses the consolidated investment 

portfolio annually and any cross holdings are disclosed 

to the London Stock Exchange as at each quarter end.

Voting Policy

! e Board has given the Investment Manager the 

discretion to exercise the Company’s voting rights and 

the Investment Manager exercises them in respect of all 

resolutions proposed by investee companies.

Accountability and Audit

! e Directors responsibilities for the Company’s 

accounting records and Financial Statements are set out 

on pages 29 to 30. ! e Independent Auditors Report 

appears on pages 34 and 35.

Internal Controls and Management of Risk

! e Directors conduct an ongoing review and monitor 

the eff ectiveness of the Company’s systems of internal 

controls and report to shareholders that they have done 

so. ! is process has been in place for the year under 

review and up to the date of approval of this Report and 

is subject to regular review by the Board and accords 

with the Internal Control Guidance for Directors on 

the Combined Code published in September 1999 and 

revised in October 2005 (“the Turnbull Guidance”). ! is 

encompasses a review of all controls, which the Board has 

identifi ed as including business, fi nancial, operational, 

compliance and risk management.

! e Board is responsible for ensuring that a sound 

system of internal control is maintained to safeguard 

shareholders’ investments and the Company’s assets.

Internal controls systems are designed to meet the 

particular needs of the Company and the risks to which 

it is exposed. ! ey are designed to manage rather than 

eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives 

and by their very nature provide reasonable but not 

absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. 

! e Investment Manager, Administrator and Company 

Secretary have established internal control frameworks 

to provide reasonable assurance on the eff ectiveness of 

the internal controls operated on behalf of their clients. 

! e Investment Manager reports to the Board on the 

operation of its internal controls and risk management, 

in so far as it impacts on the Company, and in 

addition, reports on compliance within the terms of its 

delegated authority under the Investment Management 

Agreement on a quarterly basis. ! e Company Secretary 

also reports any breaches of law and regulation as and 

when they arise. ! is enables the Board to address any 

issues of concern promptly, regarding the management 

of the Company as and when they arise.

During the course of its review of the systems of internal 

controls, the Board has not identifi ed nor been advised 

of any failings or weaknesses which it has determined 

to be signifi cant.

On behalf of the Board

Mithras Investment Trust plc

Company Number 2478424

Mike Wooderson

Chairman

30 March 2010
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! e Directors are responsible for preparing the 

Annual Financial Report, the Directors’ Report 

on Remuneration and the Financial Statements in 

accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare 

Financial Statements for the Group in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as 

adopted by the European Union (“EU”), Article 4 of the 

IAS Regulation, and have also elected to prepare Financial 

Statements for the Company on the same basis.

Company law requires that Financial Statements 

present fairly for each fi nancial year the Group’s and the 

Company’s fi nancial position, fi nancial performance 

and cash fl ows. ! is requires the faithful representation 

of the eff ects of transactions, other events and conditions 

in accordance with the defi nitions and recognition 

criteria for assets, liabilities, income and expenses set 

out in the International Accounting Standards Board’s 

‘Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of 

Financial Statements’. In virtually all circumstances, a 

fair presentation will be achieved by compliance with 

all applicable IFRS. ! e Directors are also required to: 

• select and apply accounting policies consistently;

• make judgments and estimates that are reasonable 

and prudent;

• present information, including accounting policies, 

in a manner that provides relevant, reliable, 

comparable and understandable information;

• provide additional disclosures when compliance 

with the specifi c requirements in IFRS is 

insuffi  cient to enable users to understand the 

impact of particular transactions, other events and 

conditions on the Group’s and the Company’s 

fi nancial position and fi nancial performance; and 

• prepare the Financial Statements on the going concern 

basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the 

Group and Company will continue in business.

! e Directors confi rm that they have complied with 

the above requirements in preparing the Financial 

Statements.

! e Directors are responsible for keeping proper 

accounting records which disclose with reasonable 

accuracy at any time the fi nancial position of the 

Group and the Company, for safeguarding the assets, 

for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and 

detection of fraud and other irregularities and for 

the preparation of a Directors’ Report and Directors’ 

Report on Remuneration which comply with the 

requirements of the Act and, as regards the Group 

Financial Statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.

! e Financial Statements are published on the 

Company’s website www.mithrasinvestmenttrust.

com, which is a website maintained by the Investment 

Manager. ! e maintenance and integrity of the 

website maintained by the Investment Manager is, 

so far as it relates to the Company, the responsibility 

of the Investment Manager. ! e work carried out 

by the Auditors does not involve consideration of 

the maintenance and integrity of this website and, 

accordingly, the Auditors accept no responsibility 

for any changes that have occurred to the Annual 

Financial Report since they were initially presented on 

the website. Visitors to the website need to be aware 

that legislation in the UK governing the preparation 

and dissemination of the Financial Statements may 

diff er from legislation in other jurisdictions.
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Each of the Directors, whose names and functions are 

listed on page 14, confi rms that to the best of their 

knowledge:

(a) the Consolidated Financial Statements, which have 

been prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted 

by the EU, give a true and fair view of the assets, 

liabilities, fi nancial position and profi t of the Group 

and the Company; and

(b) the Directors’ Report (incorporating the Business 

Review) includes a fair review of the development 

and performance of the business and the position 

of the Group and the Company, together with a 

description of the principal risks and uncertainties 

that it faces.

On behalf of the Board

Mike Wooderson

Chairman

30 March 2010
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! e Directors present their report on remuneration 

for the year ended 31 December 2009, in accordance 

with the requirements of Schedule 8 of the Large and 

Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and 

Reports) Regulations 2008 and in accordance with the 

Directors’ Remuneration Report Regulations 2002 

(the “Regulations”). An ordinary resolution for the 

approval of this report will be put to shareholders at the 

forthcoming AGM.

! e Company’s Auditors are required to report on 

certain information contained within this report. 

Where information set out below has been audited, it 

is indicated as such. ! e Auditors’ opinion is included 

within the Independent Auditors’ Report on pages 34 

and 35.

! e Board comprises entirely of independent, non-

executive Directors and as a whole considers the 

remuneration of Directors. Accordingly, it has not 

appointed a separate Remuneration Committee. In 

accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, 

new Directors are required to stand for election at the 

fi rst AGM following their appointment and thereafter, 

are required to retire by rotation, so that over a three 

year period all Directors will have retired from the Board 

and been off ered up for re-election. No Director has a 

contract of service with the Company. ! e terms and 

conditions of the appointment of the Directors are set 

out in the Directors’ letters of appointment. A Director 

may resign by providing notice in writing to the Board 

at any time; there is not a fi xed notice period.

Policy on Directors’ Remuneration

! e Company’s policy is for the Chairman of the 

Board and the Chairman of the Audit Committee to 

be paid higher fees than the other Directors, to refl ect 

their more onerous roles, and for the Directors’ fees 

to be reviewed from time to time. It is the Company’s 

policy that no Director shall be entitled to any benefi ts 

in kind, share options, long-term incentives, pension 

or other retirement benefi ts. ! e Board considers it 

appropriate that no aspect of Directors’ remuneration 

should be performance related in light of the Directors’ 

non-executive status. Directors are entitled to claim 

expenses in respect of duties undertaken in connection 

with the management of the Company.

! e Company’s Articles of Association for the time 

being limit the fees payable to the Directors to £150,000 

per annum. ! e Company’s policy is that fees payable 

to the Directors should refl ect the time spent on the 

Company’s aff airs and the responsibilities borne by the 

Directors and should be suffi  cient to attract and retain 

candidates of a high calibre.

! e Chairman of the Company is paid £35,000 per 

annum, the Chairman of the Audit Committee is 

paid £30,000 per annum and other Directors are paid 

£25,000 per annum each.

! e Board reviewed the level of fees paid to Directors 

during the year, taking into account fees payable to 

Directors of other investment trust companies with a 

comparable investment objective and it was agreed that 

no increase to Directors fees would take place.

Directors are allowed to accept external appointments, as 

long as these are not likely to lead to a confl ict of interest.

Directors’ and offi  cers’ liability insurance cover is held 

by the Company in respect of the Directors and is 

renewed annually.
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DIRECTORS’ FEES (AUDITED)

! e Directors who served during 2009 and 2008 received the following emoluments, excluding VAT:

 31 December 2009 31 December 2008
 £  £
  

M Wooderson1 35,000 33,159

I H Leslie Melville2 – 12,981

P L F French 25,000 18,750

W J Maltby 25,000 25,000

D J B Shearer3 30,000 28,125
  

 115,000 118,015
  

Mr Leslie Melville resigned as a Director of the Company on 14 May 2008 and Mr French was appointed as 
a Director of the Company on 1 March 2008.

1 ! ese amounts were paid to the Lloyds Banking Group (previously Bank of Scotland) together with a charge 
for VAT.

2! ese amounts were paid to Credit Suisse Securities (Europe) together with a charge for VAT.

3! ese amounts were paid to D J B Shearer together with a charge for VAT.

None of the Directors serve as Directors of the Company’s subsidiary companies, MIL, MCH and MCGP.

No other remuneration or compensation was paid or payable by the Company during the year to any of the 
current Directors.
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Performance Graph

In accordance with the Regulations, the performance 

graph below charts the cumulative share price total 

return (assuming that all dividends are reinvested) to 

shareholders since 31 December 2004. ! is return is 

compared to the cumulative total shareholder return 

on a notional investment in the FTSE All-Share Index, 

which is the portfolio benchmark against which the 

Company’s performance is measured. ! e data has 

been rebased to 100 at 31 December 2004 (the start of 

the period covered by the graph).

Source: Datastream

On behalf of the Board

Mike Wooderson

Chairman

30 March 2010

MITHRAS PERFORMANCE AGAINST THE FTSE ALL-SHARE INDEX
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE

MEMBERS OF MITHRAS INVESTMENT TRUST PLC

We have audited the Financial Statements of Mithras 

Investment Trust plc for the year ended 31 December 

2009 which comprise the Consolidated Statement 

of Comprehensive Income, the Consolidated and 

Company Statements of Changes in Equity, the 

Consolidated and Company Balance Sheets, the 

Consolidated and Company Cash Flow Statements and 

the related notes. ! e fi nancial reporting framework 

that has been applied in their preparation is applicable 

law and IFRS as adopted by the EU and, as regards 

the Parent Company Financial Statements, as applied 

in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

Respective responsibilities of Directors and Auditors

As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities 

Statement, the Directors are responsible for the 

preparation of the Financial Statements and for 

being satisfi ed that they give a true and fair view. Our 

responsibility is to audit the Financial Statements in 

accordance with applicable law and International 

Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). ! ose 

standards require us to comply with the Auditing 

Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.

! is report, including the opinions, has been prepared 

for and only for the Company’s Members as a body in 

accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Act and for 

no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, 

accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose 

or to any other person to whom this report is shown 

or into whose hands it may come save where expressly 

agreed by our prior consent in writing. 

Scope of the audit of the Financial Statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts 

and disclosures in the Financial Statements suffi  cient to 

give reasonable assurance that the Financial Statements 

are free from material misstatement, whether caused by 

fraud or error. ! is includes an assessment of: whether 

the accounting policies are appropriate to the Group’s 

and the Parent Company’s circumstances and have 

been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; 

the reasonableness of signifi cant accounting estimates 

made by the Directors; and the overall presentation of 

the Financial Statements.

Opinion on Financial Statements

In our opinion:

• the Consolidated Financial Statements give a true 

and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the 

Parent Company’s aff airs as at 31 December 2009 

and of the Group’s profi t and Group’s and Parent 

Company’s cash fl ows for the year then ended;

• the Consolidated Financial Statements have been 

properly prepared in accordance with IFRS as 

adopted by the EU;

• the Parent Company Financial Statements have 

been properly prepared in accordance with IFRS 

as adopted by the EU and as applied in accordance 

with the provisions of the Act; and

• the Financial Statements have been prepared in 

accordance with the requirements of the Act and, 

as regards the Consolidated Financial Statements, 

Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.
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Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Act

In our opinion:

• the part of the Directors’ Report on Remuneration 

to be audited has been properly prepared in 

accordance with the Act; and

• the information given in the Directors’ Report 

for the fi nancial year for which the Financial 

Statements are prepared is consistent with the 

Financial Statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by 

exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the following:

Under the Act we are required to report to you if, in 

our opinion:

• adequate accounting records have not been kept by 

the Parent Company, or returns adequate for our 

audit have not been received from branches not 

visited by us; or

• the Parent Company Financial Statements and the 

part of the Directors’ Report on Remuneration to 

be audited are not in agreement with the accounting 

records and returns; or

• certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration 

specifi ed by law are not made; or

• we have not received all the information and 

explanations we require for our audit.

Under the Listing Rules we are required to review:

• the Directors’ statement, set out on page 21, in 

relation to going concern; and

• the parts of the Corporate Governance Statement 

relating to the Company’s compliance with the 

nine provisions of the June 2008 Combined Code 

specifi ed for our review.

Mark Pugh (Senior Statutory Auditor)

For and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors

London

30 March 2010
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

 Year ended 31 December 2009 Year ended 31 December 2008
  Revenue  Capital  Revenue  Capital
  return  return  Total  return  return  Total
 Notes  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000
       
Income

Net gains/(losses) on investments  3 – 4,908 4,908 –  (1,490)  (1,490)

Investment income 4 20 – 20 1,742  –  1,742

Other income  5 1,266 – 1,266 1,600  –  1,600
       
  1,286 4,908 6,194 3,342 (1,490)  1,852
       
Expenses

Investment management fees  6 (69) (69) (138) (376)  (376) (752)

Other operating expenses  7 (771) – (771) (1,028)  –  (1,028)
       
Total operating expenses   (840) (69) (909) (1,404)  (376)  (1,780)
       
Profi t/(loss) before fi nance 
   costs and tax   446 4,839 5,285 1,938  (1,866)  72

Finance costs  9 (35) – (35) (53)  –  (53)
       
Profi t/(loss) before tax  411 4,839 5,250 1,885  (1,866)  19
       
Tax (expense)/credit  10 (133) (36) (169) (3)  155  152
       
Profi t/(loss) and total comprehensive
   income for the year  278 4,803 5,081 1,882  (1,711)  171
       

Attributable to:
   Owners of the Company   213 4,803 5,016 1,804  (1,711)  93

   Non-controlling interest   65  –  65 78  –  78

Basic and diluted earnings per
   Ordinary share (pence)  12 0.6 13.2 13.8 5.0  (4.7)  0.3
       

! e total column of this statement represents the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, prepared 
in accordance with IFRS. ! e supplementary revenue return and capital return columns are both prepared under 
the guidance published by the Association of Investment Companies (the “AIC”). All items in the above statement 
derive from continuing operations.

! e Parent Company has elected to take the exemption in Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, to not present 
the Parent Company’s Income Statement and Statement of Comprehensive Income.

! e notes on pages 43 to 71 form an integral part of these Financial Statements.
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    Capital Capital  Non-
  Share Capital  reserve on  reserve on   con-
 Share  premium redemption  investments investments Revenue  trolling
 capital  account reserve  sold held reserve  interest  Total
 £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 £’000 £’000  £’000  £’000
        
2008
At 1 January
   (notes 19, 20) 726 8,598 109 45,778 (14,347) 7,086 47 47,997

(Loss)/profi t for
   the year  –  –  –  (1,464)  (247)  1,804  78  171

Drawings  –  –  –  –  –  –  (95)  (95)

Equity dividends
   (note 11) –  –  –  –  –  (1,452)  –  (1,452)
        
At 31 December
   (notes 19, 20) 726  8,598  109  44,314  (14,594)  7,438  30  46,621
        
2009
Profi t for the year – – –  853 3,950 213 65 5,081

Drawings – – – – – – (67) (67)

Equity dividends 
   (note 11) – – – – – (1,814) – (1,814)
        
At 31 December
   (notes 19, 20) 726 8,598 109 45,167 (10,644) 5,837 28 49,821
        

! e notes on pages 43 to 71 form an integral part of these Financial Statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
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    Capital Capital
  Share Capital  reserve on reserve on
 Share  premium redemption  investments investments Revenue
 capital  account reserve  sold held reserve  Total
 £’000  £’000 £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000
       
2008
At 1 January
   (notes 19, 20) 726 8,598 109 59,340 (23,715) 2,892 47,950

Profi t/(loss) for 
   the year  –  –  –  1,721  (3,184)  1,556  93

Equity dividends 
   (note 11) – – – – – (1,452)  (1,452)
       
At 31 December
   (notes 19, 20) 726  8,598  109  61,061  (26,899)  2,996  46,591
       
2009
Profi t for the year – – – 825 3,885 314 5,024

Equity dividends 
   (note 11) – – – – – (1,814) (1,814)
       
At 31 December
   (notes 19, 20) 726 8,598 109 61,886 (23,014) 1,496 49,801
       

! e notes on pages 43 to 71 form an integral part of these Financial Statements.

COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2009

  31 December 31 December
  2009 2008
 Notes  £’000 £’000
   
Non-current assets

Investments  13 36,980 33,576
   

Current assets

Trade and other receivables  14 133 956

Current tax asset  164 323

Cash and cash equivalents  15 12,971 12,160
   
  13,268 13,439
   
Total assets   50,248 47,015
   
Current liabilities

Trade and other payables  16 (255) (278)
   
Total assets less current liabilities   49,993 46,737
   
Non-current liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities  18 (172) (116)
   
Net assets   49,821 46,621
   
Equity attributable to owners of the Company

Share capital  19  726 726

Share premium account 20 8,598 8,598

Capital redemption reserve  20 109 109

Capital reserve 20 34,523 29,720

Revenue reserve 20 5,837 7,438
   
Equity attributable to owners of the Company   49,793 46,591

Non-controlling interest 20 28 30
   
Total equity   49,821 46,621
   
Net assets per Ordinary share (pence)  21 137.2 128.4
   

! e Financial Statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 30 March 2010.

! e notes on pages 43 to 71 form an integral part of these Financial Statements.

! ey are signed on the Board’s behalf by:

    Mike Wooderson   David Shearer 
    Chairman    Chairman of the Audit Committee
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COMPANY BALANCE SHEET

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2009

  31 December  31 December
  2009 2008
 Notes £’000  £’000
   
Non-current assets

Investments  13 37,387 34,028
   

Current assets

Trade and other receivables  14 126 964

Current tax asset  164 323

Cash and cash equivalents  15 12,399 11,629
   
  12,689 12,916
   
Total assets   50,076 46,944
   
Current liabilities

Trade and other payables  16 (103) (237)
   
Total assets less current liabilities   49,973 46,707
   
Non-current liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities  18 (172) (116)
   
Net assets  49,801 46,591
   
Equity attributable to owners of the Company

Share capital  19  726 726

Share premium account 20 8,598 8,598

Capital redemption reserve  20 109 109

Capital reserve  20 38,872 34,162

Revenue reserve  20 1,496 2,996
   
Total equity   49,801 46,591
   

! e Financial Statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 30 March 2010.

! e notes on pages 43 to 71 form an integral part of these Financial Statements.

! ey are signed on the Board’s behalf by:

    Mike Wooderson   David Shearer 
    Chairman    Chairman of the Audit Committee
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

  Year ended Year ended
  31 December 2009 31 December 2008
 Notes £’000 £’000
   
Cash fl ows from operating activities

Dividend income received  20 696 

Interest income received  90 1,042 

Deposit interest received  – 493 

Investment management fees received  960 1,101 

Investment management fees paid  (51) (804)

Other income  39 4 

Refund of VAT charged on investment management fees  657 –

Interest on refunded VAT received from HMRC  218 –

Other operating expenses  (736) (853)

Compensation to key management personnel  (171) (125)

Income taxes received/(paid)  160 (460)

Purchase of non-current investments 13 (1,039) (34,399)

Sale of non-current investments 13 2,543 44,632 
   
Net cash fl ow from operating activities   2,690 11,327
   
Cash fl ows from fi nancing activities

Finance costs paid  – (18)

Equity dividends paid  (1,814) (1,452)

Profi t share distributed to minority interests  (67) (94)
   
Net cash fl ow from fi nancing activities   (1,881) (1,564)
   
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  809 9,763

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 15 12,160 2,395

Eff ect of foreign exchange rate changes  2 2
   
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year  15 12,971 12,160
   

! e notes on pages 43 to 71 form an integral part of these Financial Statements.
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COMPANY CASH FLOW STATEMENT

  Year ended Year ended
  31 December 2009 31 December 2008
 Notes  £’000 £’000
   
Cash fl ows from operating activities

Dividend income received  530 1,176

Interest income received  89 1,042

Deposit interest received  – 470

Investment management fees paid  (83) (756)

Other income  39 4

Refund of VAT charged on investment management fees  657 –

Interest on refunded VAT received from HMRC  218 –

Other operating expenses  (528) (593)

Income taxes received/(paid)  160 (330)

Purchase of non-current investments 13 (1,039) (34,399)

Sale of non-current investments 13 2,539 43,860

Loan to subsidiary  – 823
   
Net cash fl ows from operating activities  2,582 11,297
   
Cash fl ows from fi nancing activities

Finance costs paid  – (18)

Equity dividends paid  (1,814) (1,452)
   
Net cash fl ow from fi nancing activities   (1,814) (1,470)
   
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  768 9,827

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 15 11,629 1,800

Eff ect of foreign exchange rate changes  2 2
   
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 15 12,399 11,629
   

! e notes on pages 43 to 71 form an integral part of these Financial Statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Mithras Investment Trust plc (the “Company”) is a Company incorporated and domiciled in the United 
Kingdom. ! e Consolidated Financial Statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2009 comprise 
the Company and its subsidiaries, Mithras Investments Limited (“MIL”), Mithras Capital Holdings Limited 
(“MCH”), Mithras Capital Partners LLP (“MCP”) and Mithras Capital Partners GP Limited (“MCGP”), 
together referred to as the “Group”. ! e nature of the Group’s operations and its principal activities are set 
out in note 2.3 and in the Directors’ Report on page 15.

 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

! e principal accounting policies adopted in preparing these Consolidated Financial Statements are set out 
below. ! ese policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of Preparation
! e Consolidated Financial Statements of the Group and the Company have been prepared in accordance 
with IFRS as adopted by the EU, International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) 
interpretations and the Companies Act 2006 applicable to companies reporting under IFRS, and have 
been prepared on a going concern basis.

! e Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared on the historic cost basis, except for the 
revaluation of fi nancial assets at fair value through profi t or loss. Investments are held at fair value with 
unrealised gains and losses on investments and impairment of investments recognised in the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income and allocated to capital. Realised gains and losses on investments sold are 
calculated as the diff erence between sales proceeds and cost. All other assets and liabilities are held at 
carrying amounts, which approximate to their fair values unless otherwise stated. 

! e Group invests in unquoted limited partnerships through MCF and LGV. ! ese investments are 
stated at Directors’ valuation with reference to International Private Equity and Venture Capital 
(“IPEVC”) Guidelines which is in accordance with the valuations provided by the managers of those 
funds. Valuations of the funds are reported to the Company quarterly and are incorporated in the 
Company’s Financial Statements when received. ! e valuation methodology used by these funds is that 
the underlying investments are valued at fair value determined in accordance with the relevant limited 
partnership agreement. New investments are initially carried at cost, for a limited period, being the price 
of the most recent investment in the investee. ! is is in accordance with IPEVC Guidelines as the cost of 
recent investments will generally provide a good indication of fair value. Fair value is the amount for which 
an asset could be exchanged between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.

For investments actively traded in organised fi nancial markets, fair value is generally determined by 
reference to Stock Exchange quoted market bid prices at the close of business on the balance sheet date, 
without any deduction for transaction costs necessary to realise the asset.

In determining the analysis of total income and expenses as between capital return and revenue return, 
the Directors have followed the guidance contained in the Statement of Recommended Practice (the 
“SORP”) for investment trusts issued by the Association of Investment Companies (the “AIC”) as revised 
in 2009, to the extent that this is not inconsistent with the requirements of IFRS.

In order to better refl ect the activities of an investment trust company, supplementary information 
which analyses the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income between items of a revenue and 
capital nature has been presented alongside the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income. In 
accordance with the Company’s status as a UK investment company under Section 833 of the Companies 
Act 2006, net capital returns may not be distributed by way of dividend.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CONTINUED

 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

2.1 Basis of Preparation continued
! e preparation of Financial Statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make 
judgments, estimates and assumptions that aff ect the application of policies and reported amounts 
of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. ! e estimates and associated assumptions are based on 
historical experience and other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the 
results of which form the basis for making judgments about carrying values of assets and liabilities that 
are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may diff er from these estimates.

! e estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision aff ects only that 
period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision aff ects both current and future 
periods. ! e area where a higher degree of judgment or complexity arise, or areas where assumptions 
and estimates signifi cant to Consolidated Financial Statements relate to the valuation of unquoted 
investments. ! e most signifi cant techniques for estimation are described in the accounting policies 
below and in note 2.2 (f ) Investments.

! e Group has elected to take the exemption under Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 to not 
present the Parent Company Income Statement and Statement of Comprehensive Income.

2.2 Signifi cant Accounting Policies
(a) New standards, amendments or interpretations to existing standards relevant to the Group’s operations.

(i) ! e following standards and amendments to existing standards have been published and are 
mandatory for the Group’s accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009.

• IFRS 8, ‘Operating segments’. IFRS 8 replaces IAS 14, ‘Segment reporting’. It requires a 
‘management approach’ under which segment information is presented on the same basis as that 
used for internal reporting purposes. ! is has not resulted in changes to the existing note.

 Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting used by 
the chief operating decision-maker. ! e chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for 
allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identifi ed as 
the Board of Directors.

• IAS 1 (revised), ‘Presentation of fi nancial statements’. ! e revised standard prohibits the 
presentation of items of income and expenses (that is ‘non-owner changes in equity’) in the 
Statement of Changes in Equity, requiring ‘non-owner changes in equity’ to be presented 
separately from owner changes in equity. All ‘non-owner changes in equity’ are required to be 
shown in a performance statement. Entities can choose whether to present one performance 
statement (the Statement of Comprehensive Income) or two statements (the Income Statement 
and the Statement of Comprehensive Income).

• IFRS 7 (amendment), ‘Financial instruments: Disclosures’. ! e amendments introduce a three-
level fair value disclosure hierarchy that distinguishes fair value measurements by the signifi cance 
of the inputs used. ! ese disclosures are expected to provide more information about the relative 
reliability of fair value measurements and increase convergence of IFRS and US Generally 
Accepted Accounting Principles.

 ! e amendments also reinforce the principles of IFRS 7 to ensure that information disclosed 
enables users to evaluate the nature and extent of liquidity risk arising from fi nancial instruments 
and how the entity manages this risk. ! is amendment is mandatory for the fi rst time for the 
fi nancial year beginning 1 January 2009.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CONTINUED

 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

2.2 Signifi cant Accounting Policies continued
• IAS 36 (amendment), ‘Impairment of assets’, (eff ective from 1 January 2009). ! e amendment is 

part of the IASB’s annual improvements project published in May 2008. ! e amendment to the 
standard is still subject to endorsement by the EU. Where fair value less costs to sell is calculated 
on the basis of discounted cash fl ows, disclosures equivalent to those for value-in-use calculations 
should be made. ! e Group and Company will apply the IAS 36 (amendment) and provide 
the required disclosure where applicable for impairment tests from 1 January 2009, subject to 
endorsement by the EU.

(ii) ! e following new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations have been issued, but 
are not eff ective for the fi nancial year beginning 1 January 2009 and have not been adopted early:

• IFRS 3 (revised), ‘Business combinations’ and consequential amendments to IAS 27, ‘Consolidated 
and separate fi nancial statements’, IAS 28, ‘Investments in associates’ and IAS 31, ‘Interests in 
joint ventures’, eff ective prospectively to business combinations for which the acquisition date is 
on or after the beginning of the fi rst annual reporting period beginning on or after 1 July 2009. 
! e Group does not have any joint ventures.

• IAS 27 (revised), ‘Consolidated and separate fi nancial statements’, (eff ective from 1 July 2009). 
! e amendment to the standard is still subject to endorsement by the EU. ! e revised standard 
requires the eff ects of all transactions with non-controlling interests to be recorded in equity if 
there is no change in control and these transactions will no longer result in goodwill or gains and 
losses. ! e standard also specifi es the accounting when control is lost. Any remaining interest in 
the entity is re-measured to fair value, and a gain or loss is recognised in profi t or loss. ! e Group 
will apply IAS 27 (revised) prospectively to transactions with non-controlling interests from 
1 January 2010, subject to endorsement by the EU.

(b) Basis of consolidation
 ! e Consolidated Financial Statements incorporate the results, assets and liabilities, and cash fl ows 

of the Company and its subsidiaries, MIL, MCH, MCP and MCGP.

 Subsidiaries are all entities (including special purpose entities) over which the Group has the power 
to govern the fi nancial and operating policies generally accompanying a shareholding of more than 
one half of the voting rights. ! e existence and eff ect of potential voting rights that are currently 
exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether the Group controls another entity. 
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. ! ey 
are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases.

 Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies 
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated but considered an impairment indicator of the 
asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure 
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

 ! e interest of non-controlling members is stated at the non-controlling member’s proportion of the 
fair values of the assets and liabilities recognised. Subsequently, non-controlling interests represent the 
portion of profi t or loss and net assets in subsidiaries that is not held by the Group and are presented 
in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, and within equity in the Consolidated 
Balance Sheet, separately from parent shareholders’ equity.

 ! e Group applies a policy of treating transactions with non-controlling interests as transactions 
with parties external to the Group. Disposals to non-controlling interests result in gains and losses 
for the Group that are recorded in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Purchases from non-
controlling interests result in goodwill, being the diff erence between any consideration paid and the 
relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CONTINUED

 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

2.2 Signifi cant Accounting Policies continued
 In the Financial Statements of the Parent Company, investments in subsidiaries are recognised at 

fair value.

(c) Foreign currency translation/transactions

(i) ! e Group’s functional and presentation currency is Sterling since that is the currency of the 
primary economic environment in which the Group operates.

(ii) Transactions in currencies other than Sterling are translated at the rates of exchange prevailing 
on the dates of the transactions. At each balance sheet date, fi nancial assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rates prevailing.

 Gains and losses arising on translation are included in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive 
Income and presented as revenue or capital as appropriate.

(d) Recognition of income
 Investment income includes dividends and interest on investments, while interest income on cash 

and cash equivalents is shown as a component of other income in the revenue return column of the 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income.

 Income from fi xed interest debt securities is accrued on a time proportion basis, by reference 
to the principal outstanding and using the eff ective interest rate method, which is the rate that 
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the investment to that 
investment’s net carrying amount. Provision is made for the element of interest income which is not 
expected to be received in line with the provision made against the principal.

 Dividend income from investments is recognised when the shareholders’ rights to receive payment 
has been established, normally the ex-dividend date. Provision is made for any dividends not expected 
to be received.

 Income from limited partnership funds is recognised on an appropriation basis. ! e limited 
partnership funds allocate income once a year, after the general partners’ priority profi t share has 
been allocated in the partnerships’ annual tax returns.

 Management fee income is accrued over the period for which the service is provided. Interest income 
is included on an accruals basis.

(e) Expenses
 All expenses are accounted for on an accruals basis. In respect of the analysis between revenue and 

capital items presented within the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, all expenses 
have been presented as revenue items except as follows:

(i) Expenses which are incidental to the disposal of an investment are deducted from the disposal 
proceeds of the investment.

(ii) Expenses are split and presented partly as capital items where a connection with the maintenance 
or enhancement of the value of the investments can be demonstrated. Accordingly, the investment 
management fee (inclusive of any irrecoverable VAT thereon and any write back of VAT) has 
been allocated 50% to revenue and 50% to capital. Tax relief attributable to the investment 
management fees charged to capital is credited to the capital return. ! e Directors consider this 
apportionment to be appropriate, having regard to the expected split of the long-term investment 
returns as between revenue and capital.

(iii) Transaction costs are disclosed within the net gains and losses on investments.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CONTINUED

 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

2.2 Signifi cant Accounting Policies continued
(f ) Investments
 Purchases and sales of investments are accounted for at settlement date for unquoted investments 

and trade date for quoted investments. On initial recognition, the Group and the Company have 
designated all investments, including investments in the subsidiaries, as held at fair value through 
profi t or loss, with all gains and losses refl ected in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive 
Income, including foreign currency gains and losses on translation of investments at the Balance 
Sheet date.

 ! e Group manages and evaluates the performance of these investments on a fair value basis in 
accordance with its investment strategy and information about the Group is provided internally on 
this basis to the entity’s key management personnel.

 Investments made by the Company in limited partnership funds managed by LGV are accounted 
for as unquoted investments. ! e Company incorporates its attributable proportion, as a limited 
partner, of the assets and liabilities and income and expenses of these funds. ! e fair value of 
unquoted investments managed by LGV is calculated in accordance with the IPEVC Guidelines, 
which became eff ective from 1 January 2005.

 Investments made via MCF are valued at the manager’s valuation where this is consistent with the 
requirement to use fair value. ! e Board and Investment Manager perform a review of the valuations 
provided by MCP. ! e valuations are based on the latest available information provided by the 
underlying managers of the private equity funds, to which MCF committed and these valuations 
may not be co-terminus with the year end of the Company. Valuations are adjusted where better 
indications of fair value become available.

(g) Trade and other receivables
 Trade and other receivables are short-term in nature and are initially recognised at fair value and 

subsequently measured at amortised cost using the eff ective interest method, less provision for 
estimated irrecoverable amounts.

(h) Cash and cash equivalents
 Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term 

highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less and bank overdrafts.

(i) Borrowings
 Interest-bearing borrowings are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. Finance 

charges, including premiums payable on settlement or redemption and direct issue costs, are 
accounted for on an accruals basis in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income using 
the eff ective interest method and are added to the carrying amount of the instrument to the extent 
that they are not settled in the period in which they arise.

 Borrowings are classifi ed as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer 
settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the Balance Sheet date.

(j) Trade and other payables
 Accrued expenses are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently stated at amortised cost using 

the eff ective interest method.

(k) Capital reserves
 ! e capital return component of total income is taken to the non-distributable capital reserves within 

the Statement of Changes in Equity.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CONTINUED

 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

2.2 Signifi cant Accounting Policies continued
(l) Taxation
 Tax recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income represents the sum of 

current tax and deferred tax charged or credited in the year. In line with the recommendations of 
the SORP, the tax eff ect of diff erent items of expense is allocated between revenue and capital on the 
same basis as the particular item to which it relates, using the marginal method.

 Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on the diff erence between the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities in the Financial Statements and the corresponding tax bases used 
in the computation of taxable profi t, and is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. 
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary diff erences and deferred 
tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profi ts will be available against 
which deductible temporary diff erences can be utilised. Investment trusts which have approval as 
such under Section 842 of the ICTA are not liable for taxation on capital gains.

 ! e carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that suffi  cient taxable profi ts will be available to allow all or part 
of the assets to be recovered.

 Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the asset is 
realised or the liability settled based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted 
by the Balance Sheet date. Deferred tax is charged or credited in the Consolidated Statement of 
Comprehensive Income, except when it relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, in 
which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.

(m) Dividend distributions
 Dividend distributions to the Company’s shareholders are recognised as a liability in the period in 

which the dividends are approved by the Company’s shareholders.

(n) Share capital
 When the Company purchases its own shares the amount of the consideration paid, including 

directly attributable costs, is deducted from equity until the shares are cancelled or realised. Ordinary 
shares are classifi ed as Equity.

2.3 Segment Reporting
! e chief operating decision-maker has been identifi ed as the Board of Directors. ! e Board reviews 
the Group’s internal reporting in order to assess performance and allocate resources. ! e Board has 
determined the operating segments based on these reports.

! e Board considers the operating segments to be between the investment activities and private equity fund-
of-funds management. ! e Board assess the performance of the operating segments based on earnings. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CONTINUED

 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

2.3 Segment Reporting continued
Investing activities represent the Group and Parent Company’s operations and commitment to the 
MCF and LGV vehicles. Revenue for this segment is derived from dividends from investments, interest 
income and other income. ! e private equity fund-of-funds management business is undertaken by 
MCP. Revenue for this segment is primarily derived from management services provided to MCF (a 
non-consolidated undertaking).

 Year ended 31 December 2009 Year ended 31 December 2008
  Private equity   Private equity
 Investing  fund-of-funds  Investing fund-of-funds
 activities  management  Consolidated activities management  Consolidated
 £’000  £’000  £’000 £’000 £’000  £’000
      

Net gains/(losses) 
   on investments  4,908  –  4,908  (1,490) – (1,490)
Investment income  20  –  20   1,742  –  1,742 
Interest income  88  –  88   490  –  490 
Other income  188   990   1,178  –  1,110   1,110 
Investment 
   management fees (138) – (138) (752) – (752)
Other operating 
   expenses (429) (342) (771) (684) (344) (1,028)

      
Profi t/(loss) before 
   fi nance costs 
   and tax 4,637  648  5,285 (694)  766   72 
Finance costs (35) – (35) (53) – (53)
Tax (expense)/credit (169) – (169)  150   2   152 

      
Profi t/(loss) for 
   the year 4,433  648  5,081 (597)  768   171 

      

Segment assets 49,947  301  50,248  46,688   327   47,015 
Segment liabilities (406) (21) (427) (362) (32) (394)

      
Net segment assets 49,541 280 49,821 46,326   295   46,621 

      

! e Group makes investments into various geographical areas and the information about the total gains 
and losses and income on investments and their fair value, analysed by geographical location, is presented 
in notes 3, 4 and 13 to the Financial Statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CONTINUED

 3. NET GAINS/(LOSSES) ON INVESTMENTS

   Group Group
   Year ended Year ended
   31 December 31 December
   2009 2008
 Limited
 partnerships Equity Total Total
 £’000  £’000 £’000 £’000
    
Gains/(losses) on investments sold – 922 922 (1,150)

Revaluations recognised in previous years  – – – (1,432)
    
Gains/(losses) on investments sold based on
carrying values at previous Balance Sheet date  – 922 922 (2,582)

Gains on investments held 3,944 42 3,986 1,092
    
 3,944 964 4,908 (1,490)
    
Segmental Analysis

United Kingdom 989 42 1,031 (516)

Denmark  – 873 873 –

France  – – – (1,099)

Germany  – – – (22)

Netherlands  – – – (206)

Sweden – – – (349)

United States and Canada 3,381 – 3,381 (3,016)

Japan  – – – (167)

Australia and Far East – – – (134)

Continental Europe  (426) 49 (377) 4,019
    
 3,944 964 4,908 (1,490)
    

! e total fair value movement estimated using a valuation technique was an increase of £3,944,000 (2008: 
£1,129,000).

Transaction costs on investments represent such costs incurred on both the purchase and disposal of those 
assets. 

During the year, material disposals and signifi cant fair value movements of the following unquoted investments 
were made:

Disposals Total   Fair value
 cost  Proceeds  31 December 2008
 £’000  £’000  £’000
   
LM Glasfi ber – 873 –
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CONTINUED

 3. NET GAINS/(LOSSES) ON INVESTMENTS CONTINUED

Signifi cant fair value movements 
  Fair value
  increase/  Fair value
 Cost  (decrease)  31 December 2008
 £’000  £’000  £’000
   
MCF 29,578 2,959 31,456

LGV 2 1,117 (24) 275

LGV 3 3,302 1,013 1,845
   

 4. INVESTMENT INCOME

  Group Group
  Year ended  Year ended
  31 December 2009  31 December 2008
  £’000  £’000

   
Interest income on unquoted investments   – 814

Interest income on quoted investments   – 150

Dividend income on unquoted investments   20 312

Dividend income on UK quoted investments   – 157

Dividend income on overseas investments   – 309
   

  20 1,742
   

Segmental Analysis

United Kingdom  – 1,275

France   – 124

Germany   – 20

Netherlands   – 32

United States and Canada  – 234

Continental Europe   20 57
   

  20 1,742
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CONTINUED

 5. OTHER INCOME

 Group  Group
 Year ended  Year ended
 31 December 2009 31 December 2008
 Revenue  Capital   Revenue  Capital
 return return Total  return  return  Total
 £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000
      
Investment management fee income  960 – 960 1,100  – 1,100

Interest income 88 – 88 496  –  496

Other operating income*  218 – 218 4  –  4
      
 1,266 – 1,266 1,600  –  1,600
      

*  Other income is comprised of £218,000 of interest received from HMRC relating to the reclaim of VAT on 
investment management fees (2008: £4,000).

 6. INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT FEES

 Group  Group
 Year ended  Year ended
 31 December 2009 31 December 2008
 Revenue  Capital   Revenue  Capital
 return return Total  return  return  Total
 £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000
      
Investment management fees  17 17 34 100  104  204

Irrecoverable and prior year VAT 52 52 104 4  –  4
      
  69   69   138 104  104  208

LGV partner’s priority profi t share  – – – 272  272  544
      
  69   69   138 376  376  752
      

Under the Investment Management Agreements dated 28 July 2004 (as amended) and 19 December 1995 (as 
amended), the Group paid fees totalling £34,000 (2008: £208,000) to LGV Capital Ltd (“LGV”), of which 
£nil was outstanding at 31 December 2009 (2008: £16,000). ! is Investment Management Agreement was 
terminated with eff ect from 31 March 2009.

! e Group entered into a new Investment Management Agreement dated 27 March 2009 with MCP with 
eff ect from 1 April 2009. Under the new Investment Management Agreement, the Group paid fees of £48,000 
to MCP, of which £16,000 was outstanding at 31 December 2009.

Under the new Investment Management Agreement the investment in LGV limited partnership funds are 
treated as fund-of-funds and are not analysed on a look through basis, as a result the LGV partners’ priority 
profi t share is no longer classifi ed as a separate component of investment management fees.

Details of the terms of the Investment Management Agreement are provided in the Directors’ Report on 
page 19.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CONTINUED

 7. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

  Group  Group
  Year ended  Year ended
  31 December 2009 31 December 2008
  £’000  £’000
   

Auditors’ remuneration - audit of the Consolidated
   and Parent Company Financial Statements   51 51

Auditors’ remuneration - audit of the
   Company’s subsidiaries   23 23

Auditors’ remuneration - other assurance services  17 34

Directors’ emoluments (note 8)   125 130

Other administrative expenses   384 664

Compensation to key management personnel (note 20) 171 126
   

  771 1,028
   

Auditors’ remuneration for other assurance services relate to the interim review of £17,000 (2008: £17,000) 
and taxation and other services of £nil (2008: £17,000).

! e Company had no employees in either year.

 8. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

  Group  Group
  Year ended  Year ended
  31 December 2009 31 December 2008
  £’000  £’000
   

M Wooderson   35* 33*

I H Leslie Melville  – 13*

D J B Shearer   30* 28*

W Maltby   25 25

P L F French  25 19

VAT   10 12
   

  125 130
   

*these fees exclude VAT at 15%.

! e emoluments of the highest paid Director amounted to £35,000 excluding VAT (2008: £33,000 excluding 
VAT). It is the Company’s policy that no Director shall be entitled to any benefi ts in kind, share options, 
long-term incentives, pension or other retirement benefi ts, or compensation for loss of offi  ce.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CONTINUED

 9. FINANCE COSTS

Finance costs for the year ended 31 December 2009 related to amortisation of loan arrangement fees of 
£35,000 (2008: £35,000) and other bank charges of £nil (2008: £18,000).

 10. TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT)

 Group  Group
 Year ended  Year ended
 31 December 2009 31 December 2008
 Revenue  Capital   Revenue  Capital
 return return Total  return return Total
 £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000
      
UK Corporation Tax at 28%
   (2008: 28.5%):

     Current tax for the year 133 (20) 113 150 (104) 46

     Adjustments in respect of 
     prior periods – – – (164) – (164)
      
Total current tax  133 (20) 113 (14) (104) (118)

Deferred tax:
   Origination and reversal of 
   temporary diff erences  – 56 56 17 (51) (34)
      
Tax expense/(credit) on
   ordinary activities  133 36 169 3 (155) (152)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CONTINUED

Factors aff ecting the current tax charge for the year:

! e eff ective current tax rate for the year is lower than the standard rate of Corporation Tax in the UK for a 
company of 28% (2008: 28.5%).  ! e diff erences are explained below:

 Group  Group
 Year ended  Year ended
 31 December 2009 31 December 2008
 Revenue  Capital   Revenue  Capital
 return return Total  return return Total
 £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000
      
Return on ordinary activities
   before taxation  411 4,839 5,250 1,885 (1,866) 19
      
Corporation Tax at 28% (2008: 28.5%)  115 1,355 1,470 537 (533) 4

Eff ects of:

Adjustments to tax charge in respect of 
   prior periods – – – (164) – (164)

Expenses not allowable for tax (5) – (5) – – –

Income not taxable (282) – (282) – – –

Diff erence between taxable and 
   accounting gains and losses 305 (1,375) (1,070) 56 (470) (414)

Eligible unrelieved foreign tax 
   accounting gains and losses – – – 46 – 46

(Utilisation)/increase in tax losses – – – (489) 899 410

Deferred tax – 56 56 17 (51) (34)
      
Tax expense/(credit) on ordinary activities 133 36 169 3 (155) (152)
      

Factors which may aff ect future tax charges:

! e Group has net unrelieved realised and unrealised losses and expenses carried forward of £21,467,000 
(2008: £20,968,000). No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of these losses or expenses as at 
31 December 2009 or 31 December 2008, as it is considered more likely than not that there will be no 
suitable profi ts emerging in future periods against which to relieve them. 

Relief for these losses and expenses will only be obtained if there are suitable income and gains arising in 
future periods. 

! e potential deferred tax asset unrecognised as at 31 December 2009 is £6,010,000 (2008: £5,871,000).

In line with the recommendations of the SORP, the allocation method used to calculate the tax relief on 
expenses charged to capital is the “marginal” basis. Under this basis, to the extent that taxable income is 
capable of being off set by expenses arising in the revenue account, no tax relief is taken in the form of expenses 
charged to the capital account.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CONTINUED

 11. DIVIDENDS

! e following dividends were declared and paid by the Company:

  Year ended  Year ended
  31 December 2009 31 December 2008
  £’000  £’000
   

Final dividend: 2.0 pence (2008: 2.0 pence) per 
   Ordinary 2 pence share  726 726

Special dividend: 3.0 pence (2008: 2.0 pence) per 
   Ordinary 2 pence share  1,088 726

   

! e fi nal dividend of 2.0 pence per Ordinary share, for the year ended 31 December 2008, was paid on 18 
May 2009 on 36,287,312 shares.

! e special dividend of 3.0 pence per Ordinary share, for the year ended 31 December 2008 in lieu of a 2009 
interim dividend, was paid on 30 October 2009 on 36,287,312 shares.

! e following dividends are proposed by the Company and are subject to approval by shareholders at the 
forthcoming AGM. ! ese proposed dividends, which form the basis of Section 842 of the ICTA, have not 
been included as liabilities in these Financial Statements.

  Year ended  Year ended
  31 December 2009 31 December 2008
  £’000  £’000
   

Proposed fi nal dividend: 2.0 pence (2008: 2.0 pence) per 
   Ordinary 2 pence share  726 726

Proposed special dividend: nil (2008: 3.0 pence) per 
   Ordinary 2 pence share  – 1,088

   

 12. EARNINGS PER ORDINARY SHARE

! e calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per Ordinary share is based on the following date:

 Year ended  Year ended
 31 December 2009 31 December 2008
 Revenue  Capital   Revenue  Capital
 return return Total  return return Total
 £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000
      
Earnings for the purposes of basic and 
   diluted earnings per share being net 
   profi t attributable to owners 213 4,803 5,016 1,804 (1,711) 93

Basic and diluted earnings per 
   Ordinary share (pence) 0.6 13.2 13.8 5.0 (4.7) 0.3
      

! e weighted average number of Ordinary shares for the purpose of calculating the basic and diluted earnings 
per share were 36,287,312 (2008: 36,287,312).
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CONTINUED

 13. MOVEMENTS IN INVESTMENTS

   Group Group
   Year ended Year ended
   31 December 31 December
   2009 2008
 Limited
Group partnerships Equity Total  Total
 £’000 £’000 £’000  £’000
    
Fair value at 1 January 33,576 – 33,576   45,375

Movements in the year:    

Purchases at cost 1,039 –  1,039   34,399 

Sales - proceeds (1,621) (922) (2,543) (44,632)

 - realised gains/(losses) (note 20) – 922 922 (2,582)

Gains on investments held (note 20) 3,944 42 3,986  1,016 
    
Fair value at 31 December 36,938 42 36,980 33,576
    
Opening cost 34,577 – 34,577  45,998

Closing cost 33,995 – 33,995  34,577
    

Segmental Analysis

United Kingdom 3,945 42 3,987  4,289 

United States 11,909 – 11,909 10,982 

Continental Europe 21,084 – 21,084 18,305 
    
Fair value at 31 December 36,938 42 36,980 33,576
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CONTINUED

 13. MOVEMENTS IN INVESTMENTS CONTINUED

   Company Company
   Year ended Year ended
   31 December 31 December
   2009 2008
 Limited
Company partnerships Equity Total  Total
 £’000  £’000 £’000  £’000
    
Fair value at 1 January  33,576   452   34,028   42,600 

Movements in the year:

Purchases at cost  1,039  –  1,039  34,399 

Sales - proceeds (1,621) (918) (2,539) (43,860)

 - realised gains/(losses) (note 20) – 918 918 (270)

Gains/(losses) on investments held (note 20) 3,944 (3) 3,941  1,159 
    
Fair value at 31 December 36,938 449 37,387 34,028
    
Opening cost 34,577   13,970   48,547   56,131 

Closing cost  33,995   13,970   47,965  48,547
    

! e Company adopted the amendment to IFRS 7, eff ective 1 January 2009. ! is requires the Company to 
classify fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy that refl ects the signifi cance of the inputs used in 
making the measurements. ! e fair value hierarchy has the following levels:

• Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1);

• Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either 
directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2); and

• Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs) 
(level 3).

! e level of the fair value hierarchy, within which the fair value measurement is categorised, is determined on 
the basis of the lowest level input that is signifi cant to the fair value of the investment.

! e following table analyses within the fair value hierarchy the Company’s fi nancial assets and liabilities (by 
class) measured at fair value at 31 December 2009:

Financial instruments at fair value through profi t and loss

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Group £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
    
Unquoted Investments
   Limited Partnerships – – 36,938 36,938
   Equity – – 42 42
    
 – – 36,980 36,980
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CONTINUED

 13. MOVEMENTS IN INVESTMENTS CONTINUED

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Company £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
    
Unquoted Investments
   Limited Partnerships – – 36,938 36,938
   Equity – – 449 449
    
 – – 37,387 37,387
    

Investments classifi ed within level 3 have signifi cant unobservable inputs. Level 3 instruments include private 
equity and corporate debt securities. As observable prices are not available for these securities, the Company 
has used valuation techniques to derive the fair value.  In respect of unquoted instruments, or where the market 
for a fi nancial instrument is not active, fair value is established by using recognised valuation methodologies, in 
accordance with IPEVC Guidelines. New investments are initially carried at cost, for a limited period, being the 
price of the most recent investment in the investee. ! is is in accordance with IPEVC Guidelines as the cost of 
recent investments will generally provide a good indication of fair value. Fair value is the amount for which an 
asset could be exchanged between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.

! ere were no transfers between levels for the year ended 31 December 2009.

! e following table presents the movement in level 3 instruments for the year ended 31 December 2009 by 
class of fi nancial instrument:

  Limited
  partnerships Equity Total
Group  £’000 £’000 £’000
    
Opening balance  33,576  –  33,576 
Purchases  1,039  –  1,039 
Sales  (1,621) (922) (2,543)
Total gains for the year included under net gains/(losses) on 
   investments in the Statement of Comprehensive Income  3,944 964 4,908
    
Closing balance  36,938 42 36,980
    

  Limited
  partnerships Equity Total
Company  £’000 £’000 £’000
    
Opening balance   33,576   452   34,028 
Purchases   1,039  –  1,039 
Sales  (1,621) (918) (2,539)
Total gains for the year included under net gains/(losses) on 
   investments in the Statement of Comprehensive Income  3,944 915 4,859
    
Closing balance  36,938 449 37,387 
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 14. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

 Group  Company
 31 December  31 December  31 December  31 December
 2009 2008 2009 2008
 £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000
    
Prepayments and accrued income  133  956   113   943 

Loan to subsidiary – –  12,247   12,247 

Less provisions for liabilities of subsidiaries – – (12,234) (12,226)
    
   133  956   126 964
    

 15. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

 Group  Company
 31 December  31 December  31 December  31 December
 2009 2008 2009 2008
 £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000
    
Cash at bank and in hand  2,971  252   2,399   29 

Short-term deposits –  11,908  –  11,600 

Institutional money market funds 10,000 – 10,000 –
    
   12,971   12,160   12,399 11,629
    

During the year, the Group invested £10.0 million in two Sterling ‘AAA’ rated institutional money market 
funds. ! ese are highly liquid assets that are redeemable on less than 24 hours notice.

 16. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

 Group  Company
 31 December  31 December  31 December  31 December
 2009 2008 2009 2008
 £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000
    
Accruals  255  278  103 237
    

 17. BORROWINGS

! e Company has a Medium Term Credit Facility of £35.0 million, expiring in June 2012, which can be 
drawn down by the Company or MIL. Interest accrues at 1.85% over LIBOR or EURIBOR. ! is loan can be 
drawn in any currency which the facility agent confi rms is available in the London foreign exchange market. 
As at 31 December 2009, the amount drawn from this facility was £nil (2008: £nil).
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 18. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

 Group and Company Group and Company
 31 December 2009 31 December 2008
  £’000  £’000
  
Deferred tax liability   172  116
  

! e provision for deferred tax consists of the following amounts due to the diff erence between tax and 
accounting gains:

 Group and Company Group and Company
 31 December 2009 31 December 2008
  £’000  £’000
  
At 1 January  116  150
Movement in provision during the year  56  (34)
  
At 31 December  172  116
  

 19. SHARE CAPITAL

 Group and Company  Group and Company
 31 December 2009  31 December 2008
 £’000  Number  £’000  Number
    
Ordinary shares of 2 pence each  1,000  50,000,000 1,000  50,000,000
    
Issued and fully paid Ordinary shares of 2 pence each  726  36,287,312 726  36,287,312
    

! e Company has one class of Ordinary share which carries no right to fi xed income.
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 20. EQUITY

Group    Capital  Capital  Non-
  Share  Capital  reserve on reserve on  con-
  premium  redemption  investments investments Revenue trolling
  account  reserve  sold held reserve interest
  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 £’000

       
At 1 January 2009  8,598 109 44,314 (14,594) 7,438 30
Profi t for the year  – – – – 213 236
Dividends paid  – – – – (1,814) –
Compensation to key 
management personnel  – – – – – (171)

Profi t share paid to members in
a subsidiary  – – – – – (67)

Gains on disposal of 
investments (note 13)  – – 922 – – –

50% allocated investment 
management fee (note 6)  – – (69) – – –

Taxation credited to capital
(note 10)  – – – (36) – –

Gains on investments held
(note 13)  – – – 3,986 – –

       
At 31 December 2009    8,598   109  45,167 (10,644) 5,837  28

       

Company    Capital  Capital
  Share  Capital  reserve on reserve on
  premium  redemption  investments investments Revenue
  account  reserve  sold held reserve
  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000
      
At 1 January 2009  8,598 109 61,061 (26,899) 2,996
Profi t for the year  – – – – 314
Dividends paid  – – – – (1,814)
Gains on disposal of investments (note 13)  – –  918  – –
50% allocated investment management fee  – – (93) – –
Taxation credited to capital  – – – (56) –
Gains on investments held (note 13)  – – – 3,941 –
      
At 31 December 2009    8,598   109   61,886  (23,014) 1,496
      

As permitted by Section 408 of the Act, the Company’s profi t and loss account is not separately presented. 
! e loss for the year ended 31 December 2009 for the Company was £1,500,000 (2008: profi t of £93,000).
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 20. EQUITY CONTINUED

Group    Capital  Capital  Non-
  Share  Capital  reserve on reserve on  con-
  premium  redemption  investments investments Revenue trolling
  account  reserve  sold held reserve interest
  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 £’000

       
At 1 January 2008   8,598  109  45,778  (14,347)  7,086  47
Profi t for the year   –  –  –  –  1,804  203
Dividends paid   –  –  –  –  (1,452)  –
Compensation to key 
management personnel  –  –  –  –  –  (125)

Profi t share paid to members in 
a subsidiary  –  –  –  –  –  (95)

Transfer on disposals
of investments   –  –  1,427  (1,427)  –  –

Losses on disposals of 
investments   –  –  (2,582)  –  –  –

50% allocated investment 
management fee  –  –  (376)  –  –  –

Taxation credited to capital   –  –  104  51  –  –
Gains on investments held†   –  –  (37)  1,129  –  –

       
At 31 December 2008   8,598  109  44,314  (14,594)  7,438  30

       

Company    Capital  Capital
  Share  Capital  reserve on reserve on
  premium  redemption  investments investments Revenue
  account  reserve  sold held reserve
  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000
      
At 1 January 2008   8,598  109  59,340  (23,715)  2,892
Profi t for the year   –  –  –  –  1,556
Dividends paid   –  –  –  –  (1,452)
Transfer on disposals of investments   –  –  2,314  (2,314)  –
Losses on disposals of investments   –  –  (273)  –  –
50% allocated investment management fee  –  –  (376)  –  –
Taxation credited to capital   –  –  93  51  –
Gains on investments held†   –  –  (37)  (921)  –
      
At 31 December 2008   8,598  109  61,061  (26,899)  2,996
      

†Includes interest income on investments during the year.
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 21. NET ASSETS PER ORDINARY SHARE

! e basic total net assets per Ordinary share is based on the net assets attributable to owners shown in the 
Consolidated Balance Sheet at 31 December 2009 and on 36,287,312 (2008: 36,287,312) Ordinary shares, 
being the number of Ordinary shares in issue at 31 December 2009. ! e net asset per Ordinary share includes 
current year revenue reserves.

! ere is no dilution eff ect and therefore no diff erence between the diluted total net assets per Ordinary share 
and the basic total net assets per Ordinary share stated on page 39.

 22. SUBSIDIARY UNDERTAKINGS

! e following were subsidiary undertakings of the Company at 31 December 2009:

 Country of  Holdings  Net (Loss)/
 operation,  and voting  (liabilities)/  profi t
 registration and  rights  assets  before tax
 incorporation  %  £’000  £’000
    
MIL1 England 100 (12,234) (9)

MCH2 England 100 407 589 

MCP3 England 90 280 649 

MCGP4 Scotland 90 (8) (1)
    

1  A subsidiary of the Company, incorporated on 19 January 1990, to carry on business as an investment 
company.

2  A subsidiary of the Company, incorporated on 6 February 2007, to carry on the business of a holding 
company.

3  A subsidiary of MCH, acquired on 30 March 2007, to carry on the business of providing investment management 
services. MCH has an entitlement to 90% of the profi ts of MCP but has 85% of the voting rights.

4  A subsidiary of MCP, incorporated on 9 June 2006, to carry on the business of providing investment 
management services.

During the year the Company received a dividend of £510,000 (2008: £480,000) from MCH.

No dividends were paid by the other subsidiaries during the year (2008: £nil).

 23. GUARANTEES AND COMMITMENTS

(a) Guarantees
! e Company has agreed to provide such fi nancial support to MIL as it may require to continue trading 
as a going concern.

! e Company has guaranteed all the borrowings of MIL in favour of Lloyds Banking Group as lender. 
! ese borrowings amounted to £nil as at 31 December 2009 (2008: £nil).

Loans drawn down from the Medium Term Credit Facility accrue interest at 1.85% over LIBOR or 
EURIBOR.
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CONTINUED

 23. GUARANTEES AND COMMITMENTS CONTINUED

(b) Commitments
! e Company has made a commitment to invest up to £60.0 million in MCF. ! e Company has an 
outstanding commitment of £29.2 million to MCF at 31 December 2009 (2008: £29.0 million). Should 
MCF’s LP’s consent to the early release of commitment, the Company will have a revised commitment 
to MCF of £24.2 million.

! e Company has outstanding commitments in LGV 2 and LGV 3 of £0.3 million (2008: £0.3 million) 
and £1.0 million (2008: £1.1 million) at 31 December 2009 respectively.

 24. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties, have been eliminated on 
consolidation and are not disclosed in this note.

During the year ended 31 December 2009, the Group and the Company entered into the following 
transactions with related parties:

(a) Under the Investment Management Agreements dated 28 July 2004 (as amended) and 19 December 
1995 (as amended), the Group and the Company paid fees totalling £35,000 (2008: £208,000) (inclusive 
of VAT) to LGV, of which £nil was outstanding at 31 December 2009 (2008: £16,000). ! is Investment 
Management Agreement was terminated with eff ect from 31 March 2009.

(b) ! e Group and the Company entered into a new Investment Management Agreement dated 27 March 
2009 with MCP with eff ect from 1 April 2009. Under the new Investment Management Agreement, 
the Company paid fees of £48,000 (inclusive of VAT) to MCP, of which £16,000 was outstanding at 
31 December 2009. As part of MCP becoming Investment Manager to the Company, Mr Adrian 
Johnson became a Member of MCP and made a capital contribution to MCP of £3,500. ! ere are no 
other incentive schemes for the Investment Manager.

(c) ! e Company invests in MCF, which is managed by MCP. A carried interest scheme operates for the 
founder partners in the scheme, whereby any gains achieved through the carried interest associated with 
MCF are conditional upon a certain minimum return being generated for investors. No carried interest 
payments were made during the year.

(d) Under the terms of the MCP Limited Liability Partnership Agreement dated 30 March 2007, the 
non-controlling interests are entitled to guaranteed drawings which rank ahead of any profi t allocation 
to MCH. In the event that the profi ts of MCP are insuffi  cient to meet the guaranteed drawings, the 
defi ciency is paid to non-controlling interests by way of an interest-free loan from MCP. In the event that 
any part of the guaranteed drawings then outstanding is subsequently satisfi ed by an allocation of profi ts, 
such allocation shall be applied in the discharge of an equivalent amount of such loan.

(e) LGAS held 34.68% of the Ordinary share capital of the Company as at 31 December 2009.

(f ) Mr Adrian Johnson, the Chairman and Member of MCP, in his personal capacity held 4.48% of the 
Ordinary share capital of the Company as at 31 December 2009.

(g) During the year Mr Bernie Boylan, the Managing Partner and Designated Member of MCP, in his personal 
capacity acquired and subsequently held 0.19% of the Ordinary share capital of the Company as at 31 
December 2009.

(h) ! e compensation payable to key management personnel amounts to £296,000 (2008: £256,000) which 
includes £125,000 (2008: £130,000) paid by the Company to the Directors, as disclosed in note 8 and 
£171,000 (2008: £126,000) paid to key management personnel as guaranteed drawings, as disclosed in 
note 7 to the Financial Statements.
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 25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

! e Company is an investment company as defi ned by Section 833 of the Act and conducts its aff airs so as to 
qualify as an investment trust under the provisions of Section 842 of the ICTA.

! e Group’s fi nancial instruments comprise:

(a) Securities primarily in unquoted companies held in accordance with the Group’s investment objective set 
out below (see note 13).

(b) Participation in limited partnership funds which invest primarily in unquoted companies held accordance 
with the Group’s investment objective (see note 13).

(c) A loan facility, the main purpose of which is to raise fi nance for the Group’s operations (see note 17).

(d) Cash and liquid resources that arise directly from the Group’s operations, including gilts and quoted 
corporate bonds (see note 15).

! e Group’s current objective is to provide shareholders, over the longer term, a total return in excess of 
the FTSE All-Share Index with dividends reinvested. ! e Group aims to achieve this by investing primarily 
in private equity whilst maintaining the Company’s investment trust status and its status as a PEP and 
ISA qualifying investment. Investments are made with an anticipated holding period of three to fi ve years. 
Investment agreements will, however, usually provide that any loans advanced to investee companies are for 
a longer period than this. ! e agreements will usually provide for full repayment on the sale or fl oatation of 
investee companies.

In pursuing its objectives, the Group faces risks to both assets and revenue. ! ese risks, and the Board’s 
approach to the management of them, which is largely unchanged from 2008, are as follows:

Risk

Market ! e Group’s assets consist principally 
price  of unquoted investments. ! e value 

of these investments is based upon the 
latest available information provided 
by the managers of the private equity 
funds.

Management of Risk

All the investments of the Group are held at fair 
value as at 31 December 2009, in accordance with 
the Group’s valuation policy, details of which are 
given in note 2.2 (f ) Investments. ! e Board meets 
quarterly to review investment performance and 
fi nancial results. It monitors compliance with the 
Group’s objectives and is responsible for investment 
strategy, asset allocation and gearing.

! e Group’s investments are across a range of 
industry sectors.

Currency ! e Group’s assets consist of a 
combination of Sterling and non- 
Sterling investments. ! e value of non-
Sterling investments and the income 
thereon can change according to 
movements in exchange rates.

! e Group has exposure to currency fl uctuations 
on its non-Sterling equity investments. ! e Group’s 
current policy is not to hedge its non-Sterling 
equity investments.
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Risk

Interest Exposure to interest rate movements on
Rate income on cash deposits and bank 

borrowing.

Management of Risk

! e Group currently invests cash balances , in excess of 
operational requirements, in two Sterling ‘AAA’ rated 
institutional money market funds. ! ese are highly 
liquid assets that are redeemable on less than 24 hours 
notice. ! e Group has access to a £35.0 million credit 
facility as described in note 17. As at 31 December 
2009, the Group had no bank borrowings.

 25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Credit Failure of investee companies to pay 
and interest on, or to repay, debt securities 
counter- within the prescribed time.
party 

 Failure of the Group to meet its banking 
covenants due to poor performance of 
its investments.

 Failure by counterparties to deliver 
securities for which the Group has paid, 
or to pay for securities which the Group 
has delivered.

 
Failure by counterparties to return 
maturing cash deposits.

! e Board manages the credit risk inherent in 
the Group’s portfolio by ensuring full and timely 
access to relevant information from the Investment 
Manager. ! e Board meets quarterly and reviews 
investment performance and the fi nancial results of 
the underlying investee companies.

! e Board monitors the Group’s banking covenants 
at least quarterly and takes necessary actions to 
maintain compliance.

Transactions in unquoted securities are generally 
either settled through lawyers or paid to existing 
portfolio companies.

Transactions in listed quoted securities are settled 
against delivery using approved brokers. ! e risk of 
default is considered minimal.

Cash deposits are placed with counterparties with a 
recognised credit rating of A1 or equivalent.

Liquidity  Diffi  culty in realising assets or otherwise 
raising funds to meet commitments 
associated with fi nancial instruments.

! e Group’s investments are principally in unquoted 
companies which are inherently illiquid. Investments 
are funded out of shareholders’ funds and bank 
borrowings. As at 31 December 2009, the Group had 
no mezzanine investments and bank borrowings.

! e Group seeks to have cash generally available 
to meet short-term fi nancial needs and also has the 
power to take out borrowings, both short and long-
term. Its current loan facility is £35.0 million, which 
expires in June 2012.
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 25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED

Market price risk exposures
 Year ended Year ended
 31 December 2009 31 December 2008
 £’000 £’000
  

Unquoted funds  3,158   2,120 

Unquoted fund-of-funds  33,780   31,456 

Unquoted equity*  42  –
  

 36,980 33,576
  

* Unquoted equity relates to a holding in Airborne Systems Group Ltd, previously held a nil, written up in 
anticipation of a realisation in early 2010.

Market price sensitivity
Changes in market conditions that give rise to market risk include changes in earnings multiples used in valuing 
unquoted equity investments, as described in note 2.2 (f ) Investments, benchmark interest rates and foreign 
exchange rates.

! e profi t of the Group is sensitive to the factors mentioned above. ! e sensitivity analysis presented below 
is based on reasonable possible changes to market price and other factors which may aff ect the fair value of 
investments. ! e eff ect on revenue return is not signifi cant at either balance sheet dates.

At 31 December 2009, if the value of investments had increased or decreased by the reasonable possible 
percentage changes listed below, the eff ect on the fair value of investments, capital return, total return and net 
assets would have been higher or lower by:
 Reasonable
 possible change to
 market price 2009 2008
 % £’000 £’000
   
Unquoted funds 10 316 212 

Unquoted fund-of-funds 5 1,689 1,573 

Unquoted equity 10 4 –
   
   2,009 1,785
   

! is represents the Investment Managers best estimate of market price sensitivity, having regard to historic 
volatility.
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 25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED

! e Directors are of the opinion that, compared to the unquoted company investments in the Group’s 
portfolio, the fund investments in MCF are far more diversifi ed by geographical region, market sector and 
number of underlying investments and therefore MCF has a lower overall exposure to market price risks.

Foreign currency risk exposures

    Foreign Net
    currency foreign
    equity currency
    investments assets
Currency     £’000 £’000

     
31 December 2009
Euro    21,084 21,084
US Dollar    11,909 11,909
     
    32,993 32,993
     
31 December 2008
Euro     18,305 19,248
US Dollar    10,982 10,982
     
    29,287 30,230
     

! e above information is based on investments held at fair value through profi t or loss and the exchange rates 
of 1.12550 GBP:EURO and 1.61485 GBP:USD as at 31 December 2009. ! ese may not be representative 
of the year as a whole but there were no signifi cant investments made into foreign currency equity investments 
during the year.

Foreign currency sensitivity
! e profi t of the Group is sensitive to fl uctuations in exchange rates. ! e sensitivity analysis presented below 
is based on the Group’s foreign currency fi nancial instruments and on percentages applied to the exchange 
rates at 31 December 2009, which have been determined based on market volatility in exchange rates over 
the year. ! e eff ect on revenue return is not signifi cant at either balance sheet dates.

At 31 December 2009, if exchange rates had strengthened or weakened against Sterling, with all other variables 
held constant, the eff ect on the capital return, total return and net assets would have been an increase or a 
decrease of:
  2009    2008
  Eff ects of  Eff ects of   Eff ects of  Eff ects of
 Change in  exchange  exchange  Change in  exchange  exchange
 exchange  rate  rate  exchange  rate  rate
 rates  increase  decrease  rates  increase  decrease
Currency  %  £’000  £’000  %  £’000  £’000

      
Euro +/-10 (1,916) 2,343 +/-10 (1,664) 2,034
US Dollar +/-5 (567) 627 +/-5 (523) 578
      
  (2,483) 2,970  (2,187) 2,612
      

! is represents the Investment Managers best estimate of a reasonable shift in the foreign exchange rates, 
having regard to historic volatility of these rates.
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 25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED

Interest rate risk exposures

   Floating  Fixed
   rate  rate  Net
   assets  assets  total
Currency    £’000  £’000  £’000

     
At 31 December 2009
Sterling   12,971 – 12,971
     
At 31 December 2008
Sterling    2,755 13,878 16,633
     

Other than the switch from fi xed to fl oating rate exposure there has been no signifi cant variation in the level 
of overall interest rate risk exposure in the year.

Interest rate sensitivity
! e profi t of the Group is sensitive to changes in interest rates. ! e sensitivity analysis presented below 
assumes reasonable changes in interest rates. ! e eff ect on capital return is not signifi cant at either balance 
sheet dates.

At 31 December 2009, if interest rates had increased or decreased by 0.25%, with all other variables held 
constant, the eff ect on revenue return, total return and net assets would have been an increase or decrease 
respectively of:

    2009  2008
Financial instrument     £’000  £’000

     
Floating rate assets     32 7
     

! is represents the Investment Managers best estimate of a reasonable shift in interest rates, taking into 
consideration historic volatility.

Interest rate changes also aff ect the price of fi xed interest rate assets and hence the capital return, but this 
impact has not been determined. ! is is an element of market price risk and is included in that disclosure.

Floating rate liabilities are subject to interest rates at 1.85% over LIBOR and EURIBOR.

! e Group has a borrowing facility of £35.0 million (2008: £35.0 million) that expires in June 2012. ! e 
undrawn element of this facility is £35.0 million (2008: £35.0 million).

Floating rate assets are subject to interest rates which are based on LIBOR.

! e Group does not trade in fi nancial instruments.
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 25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED

Credit risk exposures

  31 December  31 December
  2009  2008
  Total  Total
Credit risk rating   %  %

   
AAA  77 6
A1  – 81
Non-rated  23 13

   
  100 100

   

None of the Group’s fi nancial liabilities are past due or impaired.

All unquoted investments are managed as equity investments with exposure to market risk.

Liquidity risk exposures

    Less than  1-12
    1 month  months Total
    £’000 £’000 £’000
      
31 December 2009
Trade and other payables     22 119 141
      
31 December 2008
Trade and other payables     187 91 278
      

 26. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

! e Group’s objective when managing capital is to ensure that the Group has adequate resources to continue as 
a going concern, so that it can achieve a total return in excess of the FTSE All-Share Index, whilst maintaining 
its status as an investment trust. During the year ended 31 December 2009, the Group’s capital management 
strategy has achieved its stated objectives.

Investments are funded out of shareholders’ funds and bank borrowings as detailed in note 17.

! e private equity fund-of-funds management business is regulated by the FSA and must meet certain capital 
requirements to operate. As at 31 December 2009, this Company’s capital was above the regulatory capital 
requirements by £280,000 (2008: £295,000).

 27. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

On 8 March 2010, LGV 3 completed the sale of one of its underlying investments, LGC. ! e Company 
received proceeds of £4.7 million as a result of this sale. ! is represents a premium of £1.8 million to the 
carrying value of LGC as at 31 December 2009, which equates to 5.0 pence per share, and a return of 3.6 
times investment cost.

LGAS has served a formal notice on 2 March 2010 seeking to remove Mithras Capital Partners GP Limited as the 
General Partner of Mithras Capital Fund LP. For further details, see pages 5 and 6 of the Chairman’s Statement.
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Notice is hereby given that the AGM of Mithras Investment Trust plc will be held at the offi  ces of JPMorgan 
Cazenove Limited, 20 Moorgate, London EC2R 6DA on Wednesday, 12 May 2010 at 12.00 noon. You will be 
asked to consider and pass the resolutions below. Resolutions 9 and 10 will be proposed as special resolutions. All 
other resolutions will be proposed as ordinary resolutions.

Ordinary business:

1. To receive the Annual Financial Report for the year ended 31 December 2009.

2. To approve the Directors’ Report on Remuneration for the year ended 31 December 2009.

3. To declare that a fi nal dividend of 2.0 pence per Ordinary share be paid for the year ended 
31 December 2009.

4. To re-elect Mr Mike Wooderson as a Director of the Company.

5. To re-elect Mr Fabian French as a Director of the Company.

6. To re-appoint PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as Auditors of the Company, to hold offi  ce until conclusion of 
the next AGM at which Financial Statements are laid before the Company.

7. To authorise the Directors to determine the remuneration of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP.

Special business:

8. THAT, the Directors of the Company be and are hereby generally and unconditionally authorised pursuant 
to Section 551 of the Companies Act 2006 (the “Act”) to exercise all the powers of the Company to 
allot shares in the Company and to grant rights to subscribe for, or to convert any security into, shares 
in the Company (“Relevant Securities”), up to a maximum aggregate nominal amount of £36,287, for a 
period expiring (unless previously revoked, varied or renewed) fi fteen months from the date on which this 
resolution is passed or, if sooner, the end of the next AGM of the Company, but in each case the Company 
may, before such expiry, make an off er or agreement which would or might require Relevant Securities to 
be allotted after this authority expires and the Directors may allot Relevant Securities in pursuance of such 
off er or agreement as if this authority had not expired.

9. THAT, subject to the passing of Resolution 8 above, the Directors of the Company be generally empowered 
pursuant to Section 570 and 573 of the Act to allot equity securities (within the meaning of Section 560 
of the Act) for cash, pursuant to the authority conferred by Resolution 8 as if Section 561(1) of the Act did 
not apply to such allotment, provided that this power shall expire fi fteen months from the date on which 
this resolution is passed or, if sooner, the end of the next AGM of the Company. ! is power shall be limited 
to the allotment of equity securities:

 (a)  in connection with an off er of equity securities (including, without limitation, under a rights issue, 
open off er or similar arrangement) in favour of holders of Ordinary shares in the capital of the 
Company in proportion (as nearly as may be practicable) to their existing holdings of Ordinary shares 
but subject to such exclusions or other arrangements as the Directors deem necessary or expedient in 
relation to fractional entitlements or any legal, regulatory or practical problems under the laws of any 
territory, or the requirements of any regulatory body or stock exchange; and 

 (b)  otherwise than pursuant to paragraph 9(a) up to an aggregate nominal amount of £36,287, but 
the Company may, before such expiry, make an off er or agreement which would or might require 
equity securities to be allotted after this power expires and the Directors may allot equity securities in 
pursuance of such off er or agreement as if this power had not expired.

   ! is power applies in relation to a sale of shares which is an allotment of equity securities by virtue of 
Section 560(2)(b) of the Act as if in the fi rst paragraph of this resolution the words “pursuant to the 
authority conferred by Resolution 8” were omitted.

NOTICE OF MEETING
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10. THAT,

(a) the Articles of Association of the Company be amended by deleting all the provisions of the Company’s 
memorandum of association which, by virtue of Section 28 of the Act, are to be treated as part of the 
Company’s Articles of Association; and

(b) the Articles of Association produced to the meeting and initialled by the Chairman of the meeting for the 
purpose of identifi cation be adopted as the Articles of Association of the Company in substitution for, and 
to the exclusion of, the existing Articles of Association.

Registered Offi  ce By order of the Board
55 Moorgate, London EC2R 6PA BNP Paribas Secretarial Services Limited
Registered in England & Wales, No. 2478424 30 March 2010

Annual General Meeting Location Map
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Notes

1. In accordance with Regulation 41(i) of the Uncertifi ed Securities Regulations 2001, only persons entered 
on the Register of Members of the Company by 6.00 pm on Monday, 10 May 2010 (the “Voting Record 
Date”) or their duly appointed proxies, shall have the right to attend or vote at the above meeting.

 If the meeting is adjourned to a time not more than 48 hours after the specifi c time applicable to the original 
meeting, that time will also apply for the purpose of entitlement of Members to attend and vote (and for 
the purposes of determining the number of votes they may cast) at the adjourned meeting. If however 
the meeting is adjourned for a longer period of time, to be so entitled, Members must be entered on the 
Company’s Register of Members at the time which is not later than 6.00 pm two days prior to the adjourned 
meeting or, if the Company gives notice of the adjourned meeting, at a time specifi ed in the notice.

2. Pursuant to Section 324 of the Act, a Member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is entitled to 
appoint one or more proxies to attend and vote in their place. A proxy need not also be a Member of the 
Company. To be valid, the forms of proxy should be completed and lodged with the Company’s Registrars, 
Equiniti Limited, Aspect House, Spencer Road, Lancing, West Sussex, BN99 6ZL not less than 48 hours 
before the time appointed for holding the meeting or the adjourned meeting. Lodgement of the form of 
proxy will not preclude a Member from attending and voting at the meeting. To appoint more than one 
proxy, (an) additional proxy form(s) may be obtained by contacting Equiniti Limited on 0871 384 2498 
(calls to this number are charged at 8p per minute from a BT landline. Other telephony provider costs may 
vary) or the overseas helpline +44 121 415 7047 or you may copy this form.

3. Members (and any proxies or corporate representatives appointed) agree, by attending the meeting, that 
they are expressly requesting and are willing to receive any communications relating to the Company’s 
securities made at the meeting.

4. Any person to whom this notice is sent who is a person nominated under Section 146 of the Act to 
enjoy information rights (a “Nominated Person”) may, under an agreement between him or her and the 
shareholder by whom he or she was nominated, have a right to be appointed (or to have someone else 
appointed) as a proxy for the AGM. If a Nominated Person has no such proxy appointment right or 
does not wish to exercise it, he or she, under any such agreement, have a right to give instructions to the 
shareholder as to the exercise of the voting rights.

 ! e statement of the rights of shareholders in relation to the appointment of proxies in this note does not apply 
to Nominated Persons. ! e right prescribed in this note can only be exercised by shareholders of the Company.

5. CREST members who wish to appoint a proxy or proxies through the CREST electronic proxy appointment 
service may do so for the AGM to be held on Wednesday, 12 May 2010 and any adjournment(s) thereof 
by using the procedures described in the CREST Manual on the Euroclear website (www.euroclear.com/
CREST). CREST personal members or other CREST sponsored members, and those CREST members 
who have appointed a voting service provider(s), should refer to their CREST sponsor or voting service 
provider(s), who will be able to take the appropriate action on their behalf.

 In order for a proxy appointment or instruction made using the CREST service to be valid, the appropriate 
CREST message (a “CREST Proxy Instruction”) must be properly authenticated in accordance with 
Euroclear UK & Ireland Limited’s specifi cations and must contain the information required for such 
instructions, as described in the CREST Manual. ! e message, regardless of whether it constitutes the 
appointment of a proxy or an amendment to the instruction given to a previously appointed proxy must, 
in order to be valid, be transmitted so as to be received by the issuer’s agent (ID RA19) by 12.00 noon on 
Monday, 10 May 2010. For this purpose, the time of receipt will be taken to be the time (as determined 
by the timestamp applied to the message by the CREST Applications Host) from which the issuer’s agent 
is able to retrieve the message by enquiry to CREST in the manner prescribed by CREST. After this time 
any change of instructions to proxies appointed through CREST should be communicated to the appointee 
through other means.
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 CREST members and, where applicable, their CREST sponsors or voting service provider(s) should note that 
Euroclear UK & Ireland Limited does not make available special procedures in CREST for any particular 
messages. Normal system timings and limitations will therefore apply in relation to the input of CREST Proxy 
Instructions. It is the responsibility of the CREST member concerned to take (or, if the CREST member is 
a CREST personal member or sponsored member or has appointed a voting service provider(s), to procure 
that his CREST sponsor or voting service provider(s) take(s)) such action as shall be necessary to ensure that 
a message is transmitted by means of the CREST system by any particular time. In this connection, CREST 
members and, where applicable, their CREST sponsors or voting service provider(s) are referred, in particular, 
to those sections of the CREST Manual concerning practical limitations of the CREST system and timings.

 ! e Company may treat as invalid a CREST Proxy Instruction in the circumstances set out in Regulation 
35(5)(a) of the Uncertifi cated Securities Regulations 2001.

6. You may not use any electronic address provided either in this Notice of Meeting or any related documents 
(including the Form of Proxy) to communicate with the Company for any purposes other than those 
expressly stated.

7. ! e following documents will be available for inspection at the registered offi  ce of the Company during 
usual business hours on any weekday (except Public Holidays) until the date of the meeting and at the place 
of the meeting for a period of 15 minutes prior to and during the meeting:

 (a)  a statement of all transactions of each Director and of their family interests in the share capital of 
the Company;

 (b) the Articles of Association; and

 (c) terms and conditions of appointment of non-executive Directors.

8. ! e biographies of the Directors off ering themselves for re-election are set out on page 14 of the Company’s 
Annual Financial Report for the year ended 31 December 2009.

9. None of the Directors has a service contract with the Company.

10. In accordance with Disclosure and Transparency Rule 6.1.12(2) as at 14 March 2010 (being the latest 
business day prior to the publication of this Notice), the Company’s issued share capital consisted of 
36,287,312 Ordinary shares, carrying one vote each.

11. If the Chairman, as a result of any proxy appointments, is given discretion as to how the votes of those proxies are 
cast and the voting rights in respect of those discretionary proxies, when added to the interests of the Company’s 
securities already held by the Chairman, result in the Chairman holding such number of voting rights that he has 
a notifi able obligation under the Disclosure and Transparency Rules, the Chairman will make the necessary 
notifi cations to the Company and the Financial Services Authority. As a result, any Member holding 3% or 
more of the voting rights in the Company who grants the Chairman a discretionary proxy in respect of some 
or all of those voting rights and so would otherwise have a notifi cation obligation under the Disclosure and 
Transparency Rules, need not make a separate notifi cation to the Company and the Financial Services Authority.

12. ! e Annual Financial Report and this Notice of Meeting will be available on the Company’s website www.
mithrasinvestmenttrust.com, from the date of the announcement of the Company’s Annual Financial 
Results to the market. ! e Annual Financial Report contains details of the total number of shares in the 
Company in which Members are entitled to exercise voting rights, along with the total number of votes that 
Members are entitled to exercise at the meeting in respect of each share class.

13. Shareholders are advised that they have the right to have questions answered at the AGM. ! e Company 
must cause to be answered any such question relating to the business being dealt with at the AGM but no 
such answer need be given if:

 (a)  to do so would interfere unduly with the preparation for the meeting or involve the disclosure of 
confi dential information;
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 (b)  the answer has already been given on the Company’s website (www.mithrasinvestmenttrust.com) in the 
form of an answer to a question; or

 (c)  it is undesirable in the interests of the Company or the good order of the meeting that the question be 
answered. ! e Board encourages shareholders to submit any questions they may wish to raise at the 
AGM in writing to the Company Secretary in advance of the meeting. ! e Company Secretary can be 
contacted by writing to: BNP Paribas Secretarial Services Limited, 55 Moorgate, London EC2R 6PA.

14. As soon as practicable following the AGM, the results of the voting at the meeting and the number of votes 
cast for and against and the number of votes withheld, in respect of each resolution will be announced via a 
Regulatory Information Service and placed on the Company’s website.

15. Under Section 527 of the Act, Members meeting the threshold requirements set out in that Section have 
the right to require the Company to publish on a website a statement setting out any matter relating to:

 (a)  the audit of the Company’s Financial Statements (including the Auditor’s Report and the conduct of 
the audit) that are to be laid before the AGM; or

 (b)  any circumstances connected with an Auditor of the Company ceasing to hold offi  ce since the previous 
meeting at which an Annual Financial Report was laid in accordance with Section 437 of the Act.

 ! e Company may not require the shareholders requesting any such website publication to pay its expenses 
in complying with Sections 527 or 528 of the Act. Where the Company is required to place a statement on 
a website under Section 527 of the Act, it must forward the statement to the Company’s Auditor not later 
than the time when it makes the statement available on the website. ! e business which may be dealt with 
at the AGM includes any statement that the Company has been required under Section 527 of the Act to 
publish on a website.

16. A map of the location of the AGM venue is shown on page 73 and will assist shareholders who wish to 
attend the AGM. A Proxy Form will be sent to each registered shareholder with the Annual Financial 
Report and this Notice of Meeting, and instructions on how to vote will be contained thereon.
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EXPLANATORY NOTE

You will fi nd on pages 72 to 76 of this Report a Notice convening the AGM of the Company for Wednesday, 

12 May 2010. ! is explanatory note gives further information on the resolutions which will be proposed at the 

meeting set out in the Notice.

Resolution 10 – adoption of new Articles of Association

It is proposed to adopt new Articles of Association (the “New Articles”) in order to update the Company’s 

current Articles of Association (the “Current Articles”) primarily to take account of the coming into force of the 

Shareholders’ Rights Regulations and the implementation of the last parts of the Act.

! e principal changes introduced in the New Articles are summarised in the Appendix. Other changes, which are of 

a minor, technical or clarifying nature and also some more minor changes which merely refl ect changes made by the 

Act or the Shareholders’ Rights Regulations have not been noted in the Appendix. ! e New Articles showing all the 

changes to the Current Articles are available for inspection, as noted on page 22 of this Report.

NOTICE OF MEETING
CONTINUED
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APPENDIX

EXPLANATORY NOTES OF PRINCIPAL CHANGES TO THE COMPANY’S ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION

1 f e Company’s objects
 ! e provisions regulating the operations of the Company are currently set out in the Company’s Memorandum 

and Articles of Association. ! e Company’s Memorandum contains, among other things, the objects clause 
which sets out the scope of the activities the Company is authorised to undertake. ! is is drafted to give a 
wide scope.

 ! e Act signifi cantly reduces the constitutional signifi cance of a company’s memorandum. ! e Act provides 
that a memorandum will record only the names of subscribers and the number of shares each subscriber 
has agreed to take in the company. Under the Act, the objects clause and all other provisions which are 
contained in the memorandum of a company already in existence at 1 October 2009 are deemed to be 
contained in the Company’s Articles of Association but the Company can remove these provisions by 
special resolution.

 Further the Act states that unless a company’s Articles of Association provide otherwise, a company’s objects 
are unrestricted. ! is abolishes the need for companies to have objects clauses. For this reason, the Company 
is proposing to remove its objects clause together with all other provisions of its memorandum which, by 
virtue of the Act, are treated as forming part of the Company’s Articles of Association as of 1 October 2009. 
Resolution 10 confi rms the removal of these provisions for the Company. As the eff ect of this Resolution 
will be to remove the statements currently in the Company’s memorandum of association (i) regarding 
limited liability and (ii) prohibiting the Company from declaring or distributing the surpluses arising 
from realisation of the Company’s investments as dividends, the New Articles contain express statements 
replicating these matters.

2 Articles which duplicate statutory provisions
 Provisions in the Current Articles which replicate provisions contained in the Act are in the main to be 

removed in the New Articles. ! is is in line with the approach advocated by the Government that statutory 
provisions should not be duplicated in a company’s constitution.

3 Authorised share capital and unissued shares
 ! e Act abolishes the requirement for a company to have an authorised share capital and the New Articles 

refl ect this. Directors will still be limited as to the number of shares they can at any time allot because 
allotment authority continues to be required under the Act.

4 Redeemable shares
 Under the Companies Act 1985, if a company wished to issue redeemable shares, it had to include in its 

articles the terms and manner of redemption. ! e Act enables directors to determine such matters instead 
provided they are so authorised by the articles. ! e New Articles contain such an authorisation. ! e 
Company has no plans to issue redeemable shares but if it did so the Directors would need shareholders’ 
authority to issue new shares in the usual way.

5 Authority to purchase own shares, consolidate and sub-divide shares, and reduce share capital
 Under the Companies Act 1985, a company required specifi c enabling provisions in its articles to purchase its 

own shares, to consolidate or sub-divide its shares and to reduce its share capital or other undistributable reserves 
as well as shareholder authority to undertake the relevant action. ! e Current Articles include these enabling 
provisions. Under the Act, a company will only require shareholder authority to do any of these things and it will 
no longer be necessary for articles to contain enabling provisions. Accordingly the relevant enabling provisions 
have been removed in the New Articles.
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6 Provision for employees on cessation of business
 ! e Act provides that the powers of the directors of a company to make provision for a person employed or 

formerly employed by the company or any of its subsidiaries in connection with the cessation or transfer to 
any person of the whole or part of the undertaking of the company or that subsidiary, may only be exercised 
by the directors if they are so authorised by the company’s articles or by the company in general meeting. 
! e New Articles provide that the Directors may exercise this power.

7 Suspension of registration of share transfers
 ! e Current Articles permit the Directors to suspend the registration of transfers. Under the Act, share 

transfers must be registered as soon as practicable. ! e power in the Current Articles to suspend the 
registration of transfers is inconsistent with this requirement and, accordingly, this power has been removed 
in the New Articles.

8 Voting by proxies on a show of hands
 ! e Shareholders’ Rights Regulations have amended the Act so that it now provides that each proxy 

appointed by a member has one vote on a show of hands unless the proxy is appointed by more than one 
member in which case the proxy has one vote for and one vote against if the proxy has been instructed by 
one or more members to vote for the resolution and by one or more members to vote against the resolution. 
! e New Articles amend the provisions of the Current Articles to refl ect these changes. 

9 Notice of general meetings
 ! e Shareholders’ Rights Regulations amend the Act to require the Company to give 21 clear days’ notice 

of general meetings unless the company off ers members an electronic voting facility and a special resolution 
reducing the period of notice to not less than 14 days has been passed. AGMs must be held on 21 clear 
days’ notice. ! e New Articles amend the provisions of the Current Articles to be consistent with the new 
requirements.

10 Adjournments for lack of quorum
 Under the Act as amended by the Shareholders’ Rights Regulations, general meetings adjourned for lack 

of quorum must be held at least 10 clear days after the original meeting. ! e Current Articles have been 
changed to refl ect this requirement. 

11 Voting record date
 Under the Act as amended by the Shareholders’ Rights Regulations, the Company must determine the right 

of members to vote at a general meeting by reference to the register not more than 48 hours before the time 
for the holding of the meeting, not taking account of days which are not working days. ! e New Articles 
remove provisions in the Current Articles dealing with the voting record date on the basis that this is dealt 
with in the Act.

12 General
 Generally the opportunity has been taken to bring clearer language into the New Articles and in some areas 

to conform the language of the New Articles with that used in the model articles for public companies 
produced by the Department for Business, Innovation and Skills.
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MONITORING YOUR HOLDING

Shareholders wishing to monitor their shareholdings 

are able to do so via the internet, using Equiniti 

Registrar’s Shareview Service.

! e Shareview Service gives you:

• direct access to data held for you on the share 

register including recent share movements and 

dividend details; and

• the ability to change your address or dividend 

payment instructions online.

It is easy to sign up for the Shareview Service – you 

just need the ‘shareholder reference’ number printed 

on your dividend stationery. When you log on to the 

Shareview Service for the fi rst time you will be sent a 

User ID and PIN.

! e Shareview Service is:

• Easy to use

You just need your User ID and PIN to log on. 

Information about your shareholding is displayed 

clearly and conveniently and is updated regularly. 

Registration takes only a few minutes.

• Secure

Data transferred to your browser is encrypted and 

other internet users cannot gain access to your portfolio 

without your User ID and PIN.

• Free

As long as you have a PC and access to the Internet, 

this service is free.

For more details on the Shareview Service and practical 

help on transferring shares or updating your details, 

visit www.shareview.co.uk.
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ANNOUNCEMENT OF FINAL RESULTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

• 30 March 2010

ANNOUNCEMENT OF INTERIM RESULTS FOR THE HALF YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

• July 2010

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

• 12 May 2010

PAYMENT OF DIVIDENDS ON ORDINARY SHARES

Declared 2009:
• Final dividend of 2.00 pence Paid on 18 May 2009 to shareholders on
  the Register of Members on 27 March 2009.

• Special dividend of 3.00 pence Paid on 30 October 2009 to shareholders on
  the Register of Members on 25 September 2009.

Proposed 2010:
• Final dividend of 2.00 pence  Payable on 27 May 2010 to shareholders on 

the Register of Members on 9 April 2010.

SHAREHOLDER HELPLINE

0871 384 2498
Calls to this number are charged at 8 pence per minute from a BT landline. Other telephone providers costs may vary.

FINANCIAL CALENDAR



82

NOTES



83

NOTES



84

NOTES



85

ADVISERS

INVESTMENT MANAGER

Mithras Capital Partners LLP
53 Chandos Place
Covent Garden
London WC2N 4HS
Authorised and regulated by the
Financial Services Authority

COMPANY SECRETARY AND REGISTERED OFFICE

BNP Paribas Secretarial Services Limited
55 Moorgate
London EC2R 6PA
Tel: 020 7410 5971
Fax: 020 7410 4449
Email: secretarialservice@uk.bnpparibas.com

REGISTRARS

Equiniti Limited
Aspect House
Spencer Road
Lancing
West Sussex BN99 6ZL
Tel: 0871 384 2498
www.shareview.co.uk

CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS AND STATUTORY AUDITORS

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Hay’s Galleria
1 Hay’s Lane
London SE1 2RD

FINANCIAL ADVISERS AND STOCKBROKER

JPMorgan Cazenove Limited
20 Moorgate
London EC2R 6DA

BANKERS

Royal Bank of Scotland plc
Corporate Banking Offi  ce
PO Box 39952
2 1/2 Devonshire Square
London EC2M 4XJ

Bank of Scotland plc
! e Mound
Edinburgh EH1 1YZ

CUSTODIAN

HSBC Bank plc
Global Investor Services
8 Canada Square
Canary Wharf
London E14 5HQ

SOLICITORS

Macfarlanes LLP
20 Cursitor Street
London EC4A 1LT

ADMINISTRATOR

Capita Sinclair Henderson Limited
Trading as Capita Financial Group – 
Specialist Fund Services
Beaufort House
51 New North Road
Exeter EX4 4EP




